INVESTIGATING THE EFFECTS OF WEATHER, ARTIFICIAL LIGHTING, AND POLARIZED LIGHT ON BIRD-BUILDING COLLISIONS IN THE DOWNTOWN AREA OF A MAJOR U.S. CITY

By

SIRENA LAO

Bachelor of Science in Environmental Science

University of California, Los Angeles

Los Angeles, CA

2012

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE May, 2019

INVESTIGATING THE EFFECTS OF WEATHER, ARTIFICIAL LIGHTING, AND POLARIZED LIGHT ON BIRD-BUILDING COLLISIONS IN THE DOWNTOWN AREA OF A MAJOR U.S. CITY

Thesis Approved:

Dr. Scott Loss

Thesis Adviser

Dr. Timothy O'Connell

Dr. Bruce Robertson

ii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work would not have been possible without the help of many collaborators, mentors, and peers. Thank you to: Dr. Scott Loss for his invaluable guidance and support as an advisor; Dr. Tim O'Connell and Dr. Bruce Robertson for their insightful input and advice as committee members; Abigail Anderson, Dr. Rob Blair, Joanna Eckles, and Reed Turner for their instrumental role in the design and implementation of this research; Cooper Crose, Malin Kunerth, Grace Milanowski, and April Strzelczyk for collecting the collision data and handling the challenges of urban field work; and the Minnesota Sports Facilities Authority and Minnesota Vikings Football, LLC for providing the funding that made this research possible. Finally, I would also like to thank members of the Loss and O'Connell labs for their helpful feedback and my friends and family for their support.

Name: SIRENA LAO

Date of Degree: MAY, 2019

Title of Study: INVESTIGATING THE EFFECTS OF WEATHER, ARTIFICIAL LIGHTING, AND POLARIZED LIGHT ON BIRD-BUILDING COLLISIONS IN THE DOWNTOWN AREA OF A MAJOR U.S. CITY

Major Field: NATURAL RESOURCE ECOLOGY & MANAGEMENT

Abstract: Collisions with buildings are a major source of human-caused mortality of birds, killing up to 1 billion birds annually in the United States. Most bird-building collision studies have focused on building and landscape-related factors that contribute to collisions, such as glass area and the amount of surrounding vegetation. Some studies have also considered characteristics of birds, such as migratory behavior and feeding habits, that cause some groups to be more vulnerable to collisions. Nocturnally migrating birds are especially susceptible to collisions, and the combination of poor weather conditions and artificial light at night (ALAN) is frequently cited as causing large collision events. However, little research has formally analyzed these factors. As part of a study evaluating collisions at 21 buildings in downtown Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA, we assessed the effects of nightly weather conditions on collisions across all study buildings. We also evaluated the relationship between collisions and two types of light pollution—ALAN and polarized light pollution (PLP), which has never been analyzed as a collision factor—at 48 façades of 13 buildings.

For weather, we found that favorable migration conditions (e.g., tailwinds) early in the night and poor weather conditions (e.g., low clouds) later in the night correlated with collisions. We also found that time lag effects (conditions from one and two additional nights before surveys) were especially important in the spring, while collisions were primarily associated with weather conditions from the night before surveys in the fall. These results provide support for using weather and bird migration forecasts to predict collisions, allowing advance action to be taken to reduce collisions.

For light pollution, we found that the area of windows emitting ALAN and the proportion of lighted glass were important factors influencing collisions, even after accounting for glass area. This result provides strong support for turning off lights at night to reduce bird-building collisions. We found no relationship between PLP and collisions, but additional research is needed to better understand bird responses to PLP. Nonetheless, reducing both types of light pollution by turning off lights and reducing reflective surfaces should contribute to significantly reducing bird-building collisions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	'age
I. THE EFFECT OF WEATHER ON BIRD-BUILDING COLLISIONS IN THE DOWNTOWN AREA OF A MAJOR U.S. CITY	1
Abstract	C
Adsuract	2
Introduction	3
Methods	ว
Study Site	5
Building Selection	6
Collision Monitoring	7
Weather Data Collection	9
Data Analysis	.11
Results	.13
Discussion	.19
Conclusion	.25
References	.27
Supplemental Materials	.35
IL INVESTIGATING THE INFLUENCE OF ARTIFICIAL NIGHT LIGHTING	
AND POLARIZED LIGHT ON BIRD-BUILDING COLLISIONS	.45
Abstract	.46

Abstract	46
Introduction	47
Methods	50
Study Site and Building Selection	50
Collision Monitoring	51
Measuring Artificial Light at Night	52
Measuring Polarized Light Pollution	53
Statistical Analysis	55
Results	56
Discussion	59
Conclusion	63
References	64

LIST OF TABLES

Table	'age
1.1 Weather variables selected for analysis from NOAA dataset for the Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport	.10
1.2 Weather variables included in the top models for spring and fall based on analyses including data from 2017 and 2018 and with weather variables averaged for different parts of the night	.15
1.3 Summary of weather conditions included in the top models for the time-of- night analysis and entire-night analysis	.19
S1 Species removed from daily collision monitoring counts due to classification as permanent residents or diurnal migrants	.35
S2 Weather variables included in the top models for spring and fall based on analysis including data from 2017 and 2018 and with weather variables averaged across the entire night	.36
S3 Model selection results for analysis of weather variables associated with bird-building collision counts in spring 2017 and 2018 averaged over different parts of the night	.39
S4 Model selection results for analysis of weather variables associated with bird-building collision counts in fall 2017 and 2018 averaged over different parts of the night	.40
S5 Model selection results for analysis of weather variables associated with bird-building collision counts in spring 2017 and 2018 averaged over the entire night	.42
S6 Model selection results for analysis of weather variables associated with bird-building collision counts in fall 2017 and 2018 averaged over the entire night	.43

Table

S7 AIC table comparing model fit for the top model for spring (variables averaged over different parts of the night; see Table S5) and models with substitutions of highly correlated pressure and temperature variables	44
S8 AIC table comparing model fit for the top model for fall (variables averaged over different parts of the night; see Table S6) and models with substitutions of highly correlated pressure variables	44
2.1 Results of likelihood ratio test (LRT) with single-term deletions of polarized light and artificial night lighting variables	57
2.2 Model selection results for analysis of bird-building collisions in relation to artificial night lighting (lighting proportion, average lighting area) and polarized light variables (polarization index, maximum polarization, minimum polarization)	58
2.3 AICc table comparing fit for all single-variable negative binomial GLMMs with building as a random effect and number of surveys as an offset term	58

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Pa	' age
1.1 Image of study site in downtown Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA	6
1.2 Plots for spring 2017-2018 analysis with weather variables averaged for different parts of the night, showing relationships between daily collision counts and weather variables in the top-ranked model	.16
1.3 Plots for fall 2017-2018 analysis with weather variables averaged for different times of night, showing relationships between daily collision counts and weather variables in the top-ranked model	.18
S1 Plots for spring 2017-2018 analysis with weather variables averaged across the entire night, showing relationships between daily collision counts and weather variables in the top-ranked model	.37
S2 Plots for fall 2017-2018 analysis with weather variables averaged across the entire night, showing relationships between daily collision counts and weather variables in the top-ranked model	.38
2.1 Example of how unpolarized incident light (e.g., sunlight) becomes polarized after reflecting off a surface	.48
2.2 Steps for obtaining polarized light characteristics of buildings	.54
2.3 Dot-whisker plot of fixed effects of polarized light and artificial night lighting variables	.57

CHAPTER I

THE EFFECT OF WEATHER ON BIRD-BUILDING COLLISIONS IN THE DOWNTOWN AREA OF A MAJOR U.S. CITY

Sirena Lao¹, Abigail W. Anderson², Robert B. Blair², Joanna W. Eckles^{3,4}, Reed J. Turner⁴, Scott R. Loss¹

¹ Department of Natural Resource Ecology & Management, Oklahoma State University, 008C Agricultural Hall, Stillwater, OK, 74078 USA

² Department of Fisheries, Wildlife, and Conservation Biology, University of Minnesota, 135 Skok Hall, 2003 Upper Buford Circle, St. Paul, MN 55108 USA

³ The Raptor Center, College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Minnesota, 1920 Fitch Avenue, St. Paul, MN 55108 USA

⁴ Audubon Minnesota, 1 West Water Street, Suite 200, St. Paul, MN 55107 USA

Abstract

Up to 1 billion birds die annually from collisions with buildings in the United States. Most building collision victims are nocturnally migrating birds moving between breeding and nonbreeding grounds in spring and fall. Although weather plays an important role in bird migration, little research has investigated how weather influences bird collisions with human-built structures, including buildings. To study the relationship between weather and bird-building collisions, we used daily collision monitoring data at 21 buildings in downtown Minneapolis, Minnesota, during spring and fall of 2017 and 2018. Using hourly weather data for each night preceding morning collision surveys, we characterized weather variables for different periods of the night (sunset, first and second halves of night, sunrise, and entire night). We also included time lag effects to determine if weather conditions one and two additional nights before surveys influenced collisions. We found that collisions correlated with both favorable migration conditions (e.g., tailwinds), especially early in the night, and with poor weather conditions (e.g., headwinds, low clouds, and precipitation), especially later in the night, when collisions likely occur for in-transit birds that "fall out" of migration. We also found seasonal variation in weather effects: warm temperatures, the absence of headwinds, precipitation, and low atmospheric pressure were associated with higher spring collisions; north winds, high visibility, cloudy conditions, low clouds, and high atmospheric pressure were associated with higher fall collisions. Collisions were not only associated with weather conditions the night before surveys, but also conditions one and two additional nights before surveys. Our results provide unprecedented information about the role of weather in bird-structure collisions and suggest that weather and bird migration forecasts are likely effective for predicting and reducing building collisions.

Introduction

Humans have radically changed the environment through land conversion and development. As the human population grows, landscapes become increasingly urbanized, and while some wildlife, including birds, are able to thrive in urban areas, many species face numerous human-caused threats associated with living in cities. Migratory birds are especially vulnerable to multiple sources of direct anthropogenic mortality associated with urban development, such as predation by cats and collisions with human-made structures (Calvert et al. 2013, Loss et al. 2015). Bird collisions with buildings are the second-greatest source of direct anthropogenic mortality of birds in the United States, killing an estimated 365 to 988 million birds per year (Loss et al. 2014). These fatalities include species of conservation concern, such as Golden-winged Warbler (*Vermivora chrysoptera*), Canada Warbler (*Cardellina canadensis*), and Wood Thrush (*Hylocichla mustelina*; Partners in Flight 2016). The effect of window collisions on populations of these and other species is unclear, though likely important in some cases (Arnold and Zink 2011, Schaub et al. 2011, Klem et al. 2012, Longcore et al. 2013, Machtans et al. 2013, Loss et al. 2014).

Several studies have identified factors affecting bird-building collision rates. Birds collide with windows because they are unable to perceive transparent glass as a barrier and/or they see continuous habitat reflected in or on the other side of the glass (Klem 1989). Consistent with these mechanisms, the amount of glass area on buildings and proximity of vegetation to windows correlate positively with collisions (Klem et al. 2009, Borden et al. 2010, Hager et al. 2013, 2017, Cusa et al. 2015). Higher numbers of collisions also generally occur during spring and fall migration periods than in summer and winter, when most bird species are relatively sedentary (Gelb and Delacretaz 2006, Hager et al. 2008, O'Connell 2001, Borden et al. 2010, Schneider et al. 2018). Additionally, many birds migrate at night and may become attracted to

and disoriented by lights emitted from buildings, causing them to become grounded in urban areas and be more susceptible to collisions (Evans Ogden 1996, 2002, Zink and Eckles 2010, La Sorte et al. 2017, Van Doren et al. 2017). Hence, migrating birds are especially vulnerable to building collisions, particularly in urban areas where the above conditions are prevalent.

Bird collisions are also likely influenced by weather because factors such as temperature, wind speed, and wind direction strongly influence bird migration (Nisbet and Drury 1968, Åkesson and Hedenström 2000, Tøttrup et al. 2010, Wainwright et al. 2016). Research indicates that weather variables can be used to predict intensity of bird migration from regional to continental scales, suggesting that such weather-based models can be used to predict and reduce bird collisions with structures (Van Doren & Horton 2018). However, few studies have formally assessed the relationship between weather and bird collisons with buildings, or with any other human-built structures. Descriptive accounts suggest that severe weather conditions can lead to large bird mortality events from collisions with buildings and other structures (Erickson et al. 2005, Kerlinger et al. 2010, Ramirez et al. 2015), and a recent analysis showed that collisions of American Woodcock (Scolopax minor) during spring migration increase with strong headwinds and low cloud base heights (Loss et al. in prep). Additional preliminary support for poor weather leading to more collisions is provided by a study that found cloud cover and rainfall to be positively correlated with numbers of nighttime bird fatalities in downtown Toronto, Canada (Evans Ogden 2002). However, at two residences in Illinois, USA, most collisions were anecdotally observed to occur during calm (i.e., low-wind) conditions with no precipitation (Klem 1989), suggesting that fair weather may lead to more collisions in some cases. Despite these observations, additional data and rigorous analyses are needed to better understand the effect of weather on bird-building collisions and improve prediction and mitigation of collisions.

As part of a study of bird collisions at 21 buildings in downtown Minneapolis,

Minnesota, USA, we sought to: a) determine which nighttime weather conditions correlate with collisions of nocturnal migrants during the spring and fall migration seasons; b) determine if conditions at certain times of night are particularly important in influencing collisions; and c) explore time lag effects of weather on collisions by comparing effects of conditions from the night preceding surveys to conditions 1 and 2 additional nights prior to surveys, because weather in the days leading up to a migration event can affect migration intensity (Van Belle et al. 2007, Van Doren and Horton 2018). We hypothesized that conditions favorable for migration, such as clear skies and tailwinds (south and north winds in spring and fall, respectively) would increase collisions because more birds are migrating and therefore more birds are likely to collide with buildings. A complementary hypothesis is that severe weather conditions that cause poor visibility (e.g., fog and precipitation) also cause more collisions because migrating birds may fly at lower altitudes and/or become grounded in urban areas, both of which may increase collisions either independent of or interacting with effects of nighttime lighting from buildings.

Methods

Study Site

We conducted this study in downtown Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA (Fig. 1.1). This highly urbanized city center is bounded to the north and east by the Mississippi River and is characterized by both tall skyscrapers and low-rise buildings (e.g., offices, apartments, shopping centers). Minneapolis is located in the Mississippi Flyway, an important regional pathway for birds during the spring and fall migration seasons. As part of the Mississippi River Twin Cities Important Bird Area, green spaces in the city are used by migratory birds as stopover habitat, making these birds especially vulnerable to collisions (Homayoun and Blair 2015). Because of

this threat, Audubon Minnesota initiated Project BirdSafe, a program where volunteers collected collision data from numerous Minneapolis buildings from 2007 to 2016 (Zink and Eckles 2010, Nichols et al. 2018). This collision monitoring data formed the basis of the building selection for the current study.



Figure 1.1 Image of study site in downtown Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA. Locations of specific monitored buildings are not shown due to terms of the funding agreement for this study.

Building Selection

As part of a companion study investigating the factors influencing variation in collisions among buildings, we selected 21 buildings in downtown Minneapolis using four criteria designed to capture spatial variation and a wide range in expected numbers of collisions. First, we referenced total collision counts from 2007 to 2015 for 64 buildings surveyed for Project BirdSafe. These previously monitored buildings were binned into five equal percentile ranges ("quintiles;" i.e., 0 to 20th percentile of observed collisions; 20th to 40th percentile, etc.): the 1st quintile included buildings with zero observed collisions; the 2nd quintile had buildings with 1–2 collisions; the 3rd quintile had buildings with 3–6 collisions; the 4th quintile had buildings with 7– 16 collisions; and buildings in the 5th quintile had \geq 17 collisions (maximum 843). Second, we prioritized buildings based on perimeter access to allow surveyors to monitor as many façades of each building as possible. Third, we chose buildings based on their spatial distribution in the downtown area to minimize spatial clustering of buildings from the same quintile and to capture buildings with varying distances from the Mississippi River. Finally, from buildings meeting the preceding criteria, we randomly selected three buildings from each quintile (n=15) for monitoring to represent a range of previously observed collision rates. Because one of the selected buildings from the 5th quintile was partially inaccessible for the first month of surveys in spring 2017, we added one additional building from the same quintile to balance monitoring effort. Five additional buildings with no previous monitoring data were also included in the survey; four of these were selected randomly within the parameters of the building selection criteria described above, and one building, a large multi-use stadium, was included due to interests of the funding organizations. Buildings selected for monitoring ranged in height from 2 to 57 stories.

Collision Monitoring

During 2017 and 2018, we surveyed buildings every morning during spring migration from 15 March to 31 May and during fall migration from 15 August to 31 October. Following a standardized survey protocol adapted from Hager and Cosentino (2014), trained surveyors walked a fixed route and surveyed accessible portions of every building perimeter. To account for time-of-day effects, the route began at a different building each day, and to account for lighting effects, surveyors monitored each building in a clockwise direction on even dates and a counter-clockwise direction on odd dates. During spring 2017, the buildings were separated into two fixed routes, and the start building for each route shifted to the next building in the sequence

each day. Because we found that individual surveyors were able to easily complete both routes within a desired timeframe of \sim 1.5–2.5 hours, we merged the routes starting in fall 2017 and selected the start building each day using a random number generator.

For all birds and bird parts found within approximately 5 meters of a building façade, surveyors entered the date, time, location, species, and photos in an ArcGIS Online form. Most dead birds were collected and placed in sealable plastic bags and stored in freezers. A subset of dead birds were left in place and tagged with a twist-tie around one leg to conduct scavenger removal trials as part of the companion study, which quantified how long carcasses persisted before a scavenger or human removed them from the survey area (Hager et al. 2012, Bracey et al. 2016, Kummer et al. 2016, Riding and Loss 2018). For birds that were found alive but stunned after colliding with a building, surveyors attempted to capture the bird when possible and place it in an unlined paper bag. Captured stunned birds were eventually released in a park outside of the downtown area or brought to a rehabilitation center if unable to fly away. Birds were collected under U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service Scientific Collecting Permit #MB05120C-1 and Minnesota Department of Natural Resources Salvage Permit #20412. Animal handling protocols were also approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Oklahoma State University (#AG-17-6).

Because this study focused on effects of weather on collisions of nocturnally migrating birds, we removed from collision counts species that are permanent residents and diurnal migrants (see Table S1 for list of excluded species). We also removed individuals we could not identify to species unless they were likely to be nocturnal migrants (e.g., warblers, sparrows). Because we used daily collision data, we also removed from counts carcasses that likely resulted from a collision from before the previous night (i.e., old carcasses that may have fallen from

inaccessible areas, that surveyors failed to detect in previous surveys, or that surveyors missed due to construction or public events that prevented access). After removing old carcasses and birds that were not nocturnal migrants, we tallied unadjusted daily collision counts across all buildings; these daily counts, which served as the basis for the weather analysis, included stunned birds and dead birds, including partial carcasses. We included partial carcasses to account for birds that collided and were later scavenged, but some of these also likely included birds that did not collide but were instead depredated by birds of prey or other predators. Nonetheless, we retained all partial carcasses in counts because we could not determine cause of death, and furthermore, because in a highly urbanized city center like downtown Minneapolis, weather likely has similar effects on the abundance of migratory birds available for both predation and collisions. We did not adjust collision counts for scavenger removal or searcher efficiency (imperfect detection of carcasses that are present; Bracey et al. 2016, Riding and Loss 2018) because we did not have enough removal and detection data to produce reliable daily adjusted count estimates.

Weather Data Collection

We used hourly weather data collected at the Minneapolis-Saint Paul International Airport weather station (NOAA 2018), located ~10.5 km from downtown Minneapolis. For each date collision surveys were conducted, we compiled all weather data from approximately sunset on the previous night to approximately sunrise of the date of the survey. Of the available weather variables, we selected a subset that we hypothesized would influence collisions (Table 1). In addition to averaging the selected subset of variables across the entire night from sunset to sunrise, we averaged values within four different time periods to determine if variables during

certain times of night play a particularly important role in influencing collisions. These time periods included within one hour before and after sunset, the first half of the night (starting 1 hour after sunset), the second half of the night (ending 1 hour before sunrise), and within one hour before and after sunrise. All these time periods shifted daily as a result of seasonal changes in sunset and sunrise times. We also converted a subset of weather variables to binary data to determine if collisions responded to the presence or absence of certain conditions within each period of the night. These binary variables included presence/absence of north wind (all northerly wind components, including N, NE, NW, NNE, and NNW), south wind (all southerly wind components, including S, SE, SW, SSE, SSW), precipitation (rain, snow, and drizzle), thunderstorms, and conditions that obscure visibility independent of precipitation (fog, mist, and haze; hereafter collectively referred to as fog). Because fog was highly correlated with visibility for all monitoring seasons, we removed fog from analysis, prioritizing visibility because it includes the effects of fog and is a continuous variable. For each date, we also considered potential time lag effects by including data for all weather variables at all periods of the night for one night before (t-1) and two nights before (t-2) the survey date; hereafter, we refer to these as 1- and 2-day time lag variables.

Table 1.1. Weather variables selected for analysis from NOAA dataset for the Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport. Variables in the left column were averaged for each of four periods of the night (see text). Cloud base height was estimated by subtracting temperature from dew point and dividing the result by 4.4 (FAA, 2016). Cloud conditions range from 0-8, where 0 represents clear conditions and 8 represents overcast conditions. Variables in the right column were converted to binary to assess the effect of the presence/absence of these factors for each time of night.

Averaged Variables	Binary Variables
Cloud base height (ft)	Precipitation
Cloud conditions	Thunderstorm
Precipitation (in)	N wind
Pressure (in)	S wind
Temperature (°F)	

Visibility (mi) Wind speed (mph)

Data Analysis

All analyses were performed in R 3.5.2 (R Core Team, 2018). Because the total number of weather variables, including for each time of night and each time lag, resulted in over 130 possible predictor variables for each season, we applied methods to reduce the number of variables carried forward to the final analyses and to assist in identifying informative variables. First, we conducted correlation analyses among all possible variable pairs and removed one of each pair of highly correlated variables ($r \ge |0.7|$). We initially prioritized retaining variables from the immediately preceding night (t-0) over variables with time lags when they were highly correlated with each other. We also prioritized retaining variables from the first half of the night when they were correlated with variables from other time periods because many migratory songbirds initiate flight within the first 2 hours after sunset, which results in comparatively high migration volume during this period (Nisbet and Drury 1968, Bolshakov and Bulyuk 1999). Furthermore, large pulses of migratory movements in the Minneapolis area appear to begin during the first half of the night according to Cornell's BirdCast Live Migration Maps (The Cornell Lab of Ornithology 2018).

For variables remaining after the above correlation analyses, we used R package *Boruta*, which implements an algorithm that outputs important variables based on Random Forest variable importance (Kursa and Rudnicki 2018). *Boruta* determines which variables are important by assessing how each variable performs in predicting collisions compared to randomly shuffled subsets of the predictor variables. To validate the results, we obtained additional variable importance rankings from conditional (includes a parameter that accounts for

correlations among variables) and unconditional Random Forest using the 'cforest' function in R package *party* (Strobl et al. 2008).

We used generalized linear models (GLM) to test different combinations of the weather variables identified by *Boruta* and Random Forest. Fall and spring data were analyzed separately because we expected weather to influence collisions differently in each season. We treated days as replicates and considered variables with data from 2017 and 2018 included in the same analysis to increase replication and assess patterns across years. Notably, we felt there was no need to account for variation among years by treating year as a random effect; most ecological studies do this to account for weather-related variation, and we explicitly accounted for weather with the fixed effects in our analyses. To assess the implications of the scale at which weather variables are averaged, we also conducted a separate series of analyses with weather variables averaged across the entire night. For both analyses, because the dependent variable was count data and not normally distributed, we first used Poisson regressions and checked for overdispersion using R package *AER* (Kleiber and Zeileis 2008). Because the data were overdispersed, we used negative binomial regressions for the final analyses.

When constructing models for both analyses, we first tested variables identified by *Boruta*, then added any additional variables identified by both conditional and unconditional Random Forest variable importance rankings to check if these variables improved the model. Based on the resultant set of variables, we constructed full additive models (i.e., containing all variables identified by the previous process, but without interaction terms) and full models with the addition of two-way interaction terms for weather variables included more than once as an important variable. For example, in the analysis with variables averaged for different parts of the night, we added an interaction between cloud base height during the first half of the night and

cloud base height at sunrise because both factors were identified as important variables by *Boruta* or Random Forest. We then implemented backward and forward stepwise regressions in R package *MASS* (Venables and Ripley 2002) for both sets of models and assessed model fit using Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC; Burnham and Anderson 2002). When inclusion of two-way interactions prevented models from converging, we selectively removed interaction terms for variables dropped from the full additive model after performing stepwise regressions. We validated the result by testing all combinations of the important variables and obtaining relative variable importance (i.e., the sum of AIC weights of all models with Δ AIC < 7) using R package *MuMIn* (Bartoń 2016). For the top model, we also substituted back any highly correlated variables that were previously removed in the preliminary correlation analysis and retested whether model fit improved. This final step was conducted because we had prioritized retaining variables without a time lag and from the first half of the night when conducting the preliminary correlation analysis, and we sought to avoid biasing conclusions about the relative importance of different lag periods and times of night.

Results

During morning surveys in spring and fall of 2017 and 2018, we found 847 total birdbuilding collision victims that were nocturnal migrants, including fatal and non-fatal collisions (93 in spring 2017, 280 in fall 2017, 88 in spring 2018, 386 in fall 2018). Here, we focus on presenting results related to the analyses with weather variables averaged for different parts of the night. Results for analyses with weather variables averaged for the entire night are included in supplemental materials (Table S2, Fig. S1-S2). AIC tables showing rankings of all models tested for all analyses are also included in supplemental materials (Tables S3-S8).

The top model for spring with weather variables averaged for different parts of the night included five weather variables: precipitation volume, presence of precipitation, pressure, temperature, and presence of north winds (Table 1.2, Fig. 1.2). Precipitation volume from the second half of night with a 1-day time lag was positively associated with collisions. Presence of precipitation at sunset with a 1-day time lag had a negative association with collisions. Pressure was included twice in the model: during the second half of the night preceding surveys (i.e., no time lag) and at sunset with a 2-day time lag. Both pressure variables were negatively correlated with collisions. Temperature at sunset with a 2-day time lag was positively associated with a lag had a negative association with a 1-day time lag was positively associated with collisions. Temperature at sunset with a 2-day time lag was positively associated with a 1-day time lag had a negative association with a 1-day time lag had a negative associated with a 2-day time lag was positively associated with collisions. Finally, the presence of north wind during the first half of the night with a 1-day time lag had a negative association with collisions.

Table 1.2. Weather variables included in the top models for spring and fall based on analyses including data from 2017 and 2018 and with weather variables averaged for different parts of the night. For time lags: t-0 = no time lag (i.e., weather conditions the night preceding collision surveys), t-1 = 1-day time lag, t-2 = 2-day time lag. Relative importance indicates the sum of AIC weights for all models with $\Delta AIC < 7$ after testing all possible combinations of variables in R package *MuMIn*.

Season	Weather Variable	Time of Night	Time Lag	Direction of Effect	Relative Importance
Spring	Precipitation volume	Second half of the night	t-1	+	1
	Presence of precipitation	Sunset	t-1	-	1
	Pressure	Second half of the night	t-0	-	0.81
		Sunset	t-2	-	0.95
	Temperature	Sunset	t-2	+	0.87
	Presence of N wind	First half of the night	t-1	-	0.97
Fall	Cloud base height	First half of the night	t-0	-	0.91
		Sunrise	t-0	-	0.98
	Interaction of cloud base height	First half of the night, Sunrise	t-0	+	0.9
	Cloud conditions	Sunrise	t-2	+	0.92
	Pressure	Second half of the night	t-0	+	0.82
	Visibility	First half of the night	t-0	+	1
	Presence of N wind	Second half of the night	t-0	+	1
	Presence of S wind	Sunset	t-0	-	0.87
			t-1	-	0.92
	Interaction of N and S wind	Second half of the night, Sunset (respectively)	t-0	+	0.68



Figure 1.2. Plots for spring 2017-2018 analysis with weather variables averaged for different parts of the night, showing relationships between daily collision counts and weather variables in the top-ranked model. SS = sunset, N1 = first half of the night, N2 = second half of the night, SR = sunrise; t-0 = no time lag [i.e., weather conditions during the night preceding collision surveys], t-1 = 1-day time lag, t-2 = 2-day time lag. A) precipitation volume during the second half of the night with a 1-day time lag; B) presence of precipitation at sunset with a 1-day time lag; C) pressure during the second half of the night of the night at sunset with a 2-day time lag; E) temperature at sunset with a 2-day time lag; and F) presence of north wind during the first half of the night with a 1-day time lag.

The top model for fall included six weather variables: cloud base height, cloud conditions, pressure, visibility, the presence of north wind, and the presence of south wind (Table 1.2, Fig. 1.3). Cloud base height from the night preceding collision surveys was included twice in the model: during the first half of the night and at sunrise. Both cloud base height variables were negatively correlated with collisions. Cloud conditions at sunrise with a 2-day time lag had a positive association with collisions (i.e., overcast conditions were correlated with collisions). Both pressure and the presence of north wind during the second half of the night preceding surveys were positively correlated with collisions. Visibility from the first half of the night

preceding surveys also had a positive association with collisions. Finally, the presence of south wind at sunset was included twice in the model: for the night preceding surveys (negative association with collisions) and with a 1-day time lag (positive association with collisions).

In addition to the above additive effects, the top model for fall included two-way interactions. For cloud base height during the first half of the night preceding surveys and at sunrise the morning of surveys, the interaction between periods was primarily driven by low clouds (i.e., there is no clear interaction between the two time periods for moderate and high values of cloud base height); specifically, the effect of low clouds during one part of the night was stronger when low clouds were also present during the other part of the night (Fig. 1.3C). For wind direction, south winds at sunset interacted with north winds during the second half of the night (Fig. 1.3J). Specifically, north winds during the second half of the night always resulted in more collisions than if no north winds occurred during this period; however, this effect was greatest when north winds followed south winds at sunset. The fewest collisions occurred when south winds were present and north winds were absent.



Figure 1.3. Plots for fall 2017-2018 analysis with weather variables averaged for different times of night, showing relationships between daily collision counts and weather variables in the top-ranked model. SS = sunset, N1 = first half of the night, N2 = second half of the night, SR = sunrise; t-0 = no time lag [i.e., weather conditions the night preceding surveys], t-1 = 1-day time lag, t-2 = 2-day time lag. A) cloud base height during the first half of the night preceding surveys; B) cloud base height at sunrise the day of surveys; C) the interaction of cloud base height during the first half of the night "low" are 1 standard deviation from the mean cloud base height; D) cloud conditions at sunrise with a 2-day time lag; E) pressure during the second half of the night preceding surveys; G) presence of north wind during the second half of the night preceding surveys; H) presence of south wind at the sunset preceding surveys; I) presence of south wind at sunset with a 1-day time lag; and J) the interaction of north wind during the second half of the night preceding surveys and south wind at the sunset preceding surveys.

In Table 1.3, we summarize the major categories of weather conditions (i.e., independent of the time of night or time lag for which they were measured) that appeared in top models for both the analysis of different parts of the night (i.e., the results described above), and of variables

averaged across the entire night (Table S2). In spring, the results for the entire-night analysis included some weather conditions that were absent from the time-of-night analysis (cloud base height and presence of south wind), and some conditions from the time-of-night analysis were absent from the entire-night analysis (presence of precipitation and presence of north wind). Three weather conditions were included in top models for both analyses: precipitation volume, pressure, and temperature. In fall, the results for the entire-night analysis included only 3 types of weather conditions that were all included in the time-of-night analysis: presence of north wind, presence of south wind, and visibility. However, the model included more interactions between wind direction variables across multiple nights.

Season	Weather Variable	Time of Night	Entire Night
	Cloud base height		Х
	Precipitation volume	х	Х
	Presence of precipitation	Х	
Spring	Pressure	Х	Х
	Presence of N wind	Х	
	Presence of S wind		Х
	Temperature	Х	Х
	Cloud base height	Х	
	Cloud conditions	Х	
E-11	Pressure	Х	
Fall	Presence of N wind	Х	Х
	Presence of S wind	Х	Х
	Visibility	Х	Х

Table 1.3. Summary of weather conditions included in the top models for the time-of-night analysis and entire-night analysis.

Discussion

We found that weather variables correlate with building collisions of nocturnally migrating birds during both spring and fall migration. Further, our results provide support for both of our hypotheses; specifically, weather variables associated with both favorable and poor migration conditions, sometimes when both occur during the same night, appear to contribute to elevating bird-building collision rates. We also show that the effect of weather is complex, with different weather variables predicting collisions in different seasons, differential effects of weather variables for different times of night and different time lags (from the night preceding collision surveys to two nights before surveys), and interactions of weather variables across times of night. Below we describe in detail the specific weather-related factors that predicted collisions in spring and fall migration for different parts of the night.

In spring, we generally found that conditions favorable for migration—warm temperatures and the absence of north winds (headwinds) and of precipitation—positively correlated with collisions. These weather conditions appeared particularly important near sunset and during the first half of the night (4 of 6 variables in the final model were for these periods), suggesting that favorable migration conditions early in the night, when nocturnal migrants typically initiate migration, may contribute disproportionately to spring collisions. However, high precipitation volume and low pressure (both indicative of stormy conditions) during the second half of the night also correlated with more collisions; this finding may reflect large numbers of collisions that occur when birds initiating migration early in the night encounter precipitation and are forced to "fall out" late in the night. Notably, most of the factors that predicted collisions were especially important for the nights prior to the night preceding collision surveys (i.e., 1- or 2-day lag effects for 5 of the 6 variables), suggesting that weather-based predictions of spring collisions may benefit from forecasts up to 2 days in advance. For example, even though low pressure from the second half of the immediately preceding night correlated with more collisions, a similar effect was also observed for low pressure two nights before surveys. This finding may reflect that decreasing pressure up to two days before the arrival of

approaching low-pressure (i.e., storm) systems generates south winds and warm conditions (Bagg 1950) conducive to high-intensity spring migration (Wainwright et al. 2016) and increased collisions. Additionally, time lag effects may reflect conditions from other locations from which birds initiated migration, and therefore additional research analyzing conditions at other weather stations may be informative.

In fall, we also found that conditions favorable for migration (high pressure, high visibility, and the presence of north wind) as well as poor weather conditions (low cloud base height, overcast skies, and the presence of south wind) positively correlated with collisions. Some of these variables followed similar patterns as those found for spring, with collisions elevated in association with favorable migration conditions (high visibility and the absence of south wind) early in the night and poor conditions (low clouds and overcast conditions) later in the night, which again suggests the possibility of collisions occurring for migrating birds forced to fall out or fly at lower altitudes. However, other patterns of weather effects were also evident in the fall. For example, high pressure during the second half of the night was positively correlated with collisions, likely because high-pressure systems are associated with cool, dry air masses that are favorable for migration, especially following passage of a cold front and in association with north winds that occur on the east side of the system (Able 1973). Although pressure variables from all periods of the night were strongly correlated, our results suggest that the disproportionate importance of pressure late in the night may reflect an increased likelihood of north winds during this period, as collisions increased when each of these factors occurred during the second half of the night (Table 1.2).

In fall, weather variables also interacted across time periods to influence collisions. For the night preceding surveys, south wind at sunset followed by north wind during the second half

of the night led to more collisions than the presence of north wind alone. This interaction also likely influenced the unexpected positive relationship between collisions and the presence of south wind at sunset with a 1-day time lag. We hypothesize that these patterns reflect large numbers of birds initiating migration in response to a shift to north winds following an extended period of south winds unfavorable for fall migration. Such an intense peak in migration activity late in the night may be expected to result in a higher number of collisions than if north winds had been occurring for a more extended period. There was also an interacting effect of low clouds the night preceding surveys; specifically, low clouds later in the night increased collisions, but the strength of this effect was intensified when there were also low clouds early in the night, a pattern that may increase the total number of low-flying or grounded birds relative to nights when low clouds are present for only part of the night. Finally, we also note that, in contrast to spring, most of the supported weather variables for fall (6 of 8 variables) had no time lag, suggesting that fall collisions are primarily influenced by weather conditions the night immediately preceding collision surveys. This difference in time lag effects may reflect increased urgency for birds to migrate in the spring to arrive early at breeding sites (Nilsson et al. 2013); therefore, birds may be less selective in waiting for optimal migration conditions in spring than in fall.

Our collective results demonstrate the importance of considering weather conditions during different parts of the night, time lag effects up to two days in advance of collision events, and interactions across times of night. Further, the temporal grain at which weather variables are averaged also matters, as supported by our finding that top models for both migration seasons differed depending on whether variables were characterized for the entire night or parts of the night. In spring, only 3 major categories of weather conditions—precipitation volume, pressure,

and temperature—were included in both analyses. In fall, the top model for the entire-night analysis included only 3 of the 6 major categories of conditions identified in the respective timeof-night analysis (presence of north wind, presence of south wind, and visibility). Given our observation that collisions correlated with favorable migration conditions early in the night and poor conditions late in the night, we argue that time-of-night analyses allow more specific predictions about the timing of conditions that influence collisions, and therefore, more targeted recommendations for reducing collisions (e.g., turning off lights during specific periods of the night). However, when logistically infeasible to compile and interpret weather variables for different times of night, our analyses suggest that the weather variables supported in both analyses could be used to predict collisions regardless of the resolution at which weather forecast information is available.

Our results provide the first formal, multi-year assessment of the effects of weather on bird collisions with buildings, or with any human-built structures. Therefore, this study provides a framework and additional follow-up hypotheses for future similar research in other regions. Because both weather patterns and characteristics of avian migration vary by geographic region, conducting this analysis in different regions could lead to identifying different weather-related predictors of collisions. For example, temperature may not be as important in the spring in areas where temperature fluctuations are small (e.g., lower-latitude and coastal locations) compared to our study area. Additionally, in rural and residential settings, different weather variables may affect collisions, or weather may have no effect at all, because the presence of birds could be more heavily influenced by other factors such as food and habitat availability. Because high collision rates can also occur in the summer (Hager and Craig 2014, Schneider et al. 2018, Riding et al. *in review*), future studies may also consider the effect of weather during the summer

breeding season, although we predict that weather is of reduced importance when most birds are in a sedentary portion of their annual cycles. Furthermore, our analysis focuses on nocturnal migrants and primarily includes passerines; diurnal migrants and other avian taxonomic groups may respond differently to weather. For example, in the same study area, American Woodcock, a nocturnally migrating, terrestrial shorebird species with a much earlier spring migration window than most other bird species, collided with buildings at unusually high rates during early spring snowstorms in 2018 (Loss et al. *in prep*). Analyzing the effect of weather on building collisions for specific bird species or families may be of interest to wildlife managers and conservation groups and may reveal species-specific correlates of building collisions that provide clues to the mechanisms behind bird collisions. These analyses will be especially relevant as climate change increases the frequency of extreme weather events (IPCC 2013) and may disproportionately affect species of conservation concern.

Our results have management implications for reducing the impact of buildings on migratory birds. Because many of the predictive weather variables are associated with favorable migration conditions, the results of this study support using weather forecasts and tools like Cornell's BirdCast forecasts to predict when high numbers of collisions are likely based on migration intensity. However, our results demonstrate relatively nuanced effects of weather, including time lag effects and changes in weather between fair and poor migration conditions during different parts of the same night. Bird migration forecasts may need to incorporate these more detailed types of information to maximize their utility for predicting collisions. Having access to weather-informed migration forecasts can allow homeowners and building managers to take actions to reduce collisions, such as turning off nighttime lighting when high migration intensity and/or fallout of migrants is likely to occur. Because collisions appear to be influenced

by favorable migration conditions early in the night and poor conditions late in the night, building managers could focus mitigation efforts during these times depending on weather forecasts. However, further research and collision monitoring to validate the predictions arising from our analyses are also needed, especially regarding mitigation efforts focused during different parts of the night. Finally, it is often assumed that artificial lighting emanating from and near buildings exacerbates fallouts of migrating birds in urban areas; however, very few studies have analyzed nightly interactions of weather and lighting (but see Evans Ogden 2002). Further research is needed to better understand which specific weather and lighting conditions most strongly influence bird collisions, as this information could lead to additional collision mitigation recommendations.

Conclusion

This study shows that weather influences bird-building collisions during both spring and fall migration. Collision counts were generally associated with favorable migration conditions early in the night, when most birds begin migrating, and poor conditions later in the night, which cause migrating birds to fly at lower altitudes or become grounded in urban areas. We also found that conditions up to two nights prior to a collision event were important in the spring, which suggests a need for advanced planning of any collision reduction efforts. However, in the fall, collisions were primarily related to conditions the night preceding surveys, suggesting that fall management decisions can be made up to the night before a collision fatality event is predicted to occur. These results also suggest that weather and bird migration forecasts may be useful for predicting large collision events, and that predictions may become more accurate if they incorporate time lag effects and interactions of fair and poor weather conditions during different times of night. By using weather information to improve predictions of bird-building collisions,

building managers and homeowners can take better-informed actions to reduce numbers of birds killed by this major source of human-caused mortality.

References

- Able, K. 1973. The role of weather variables and flight direction in determining the magnitude of nocturnal bird migration. Ecology **54**: 1031–1041.
- Åkesson, S., and A. Hedenström. 2000. Wind selectivity of migratory flight departures in birds. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology **47**:140–144.
- Arnold, T. W., and R. M. Zink. 2011. Collision mortality has no discernible effect on population trends of North American birds. PLoS One 6:e24708.
- Bagg, A. M., W. Gunn, D. Miller, J. Nichols, W. Smith, and F. P. Wolfarth. 1950. Barometric pressure-patterns and spring bird migration. The Wilson Bulletin 62:5–19.

Bartoń, K. 2016. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version 1.15.6.

- Bolshakov, C., and V. Bulyuk. 1999. Time of nocturnal flight initiation (take-off activity) in the European Robin Erithacus rubecula during spring migration: direct observations between sunset and sunrise. Avian Ecology and Behavior **2**:51–74.
- Borden, W. C., O. M. Lockhart, A. W. Jones, and M. S. Lyons. 2010. Seasonal, taxonomic, and local habitat of bird-window collisions on urban university campus in Cleveland, OH. The Ohio Journal of Science 110:44–52.
- Bracey, A. M., M. A. Etterson, G. J. Niemi, and R. F. Green. 2016. Variation in bird-window collision mortality and scavenging rates within an urban landscape. The Wilson Journal of Ornithology 128:355–367.

- Burnham, K. P., and D. R. Anderson. 2002. Model selection and multimodel inference : a practical information-theoretic approach. 2nd ed.. edition. New York : Springer, New York.
- Calvert, A. M., C. A. Bishop, R. D. Elliot, E. A. Krebs, T. M. Kydd, C. S. Machtans, and G. J.Robertson. 2013. A synthesis of human-related avian mortality in Canada. AvianConservation and Ecology 8.
- The Cornell Lab of Ornithology. 2018. BirdCast Live Migration Maps. Retrieved from http://birdcast.info/live-migration-maps/
- Cusa, M., D. A. Jackson, and M. Mesure. 2015. Window collisions by migratory bird species: urban geographical patterns and habitat associations. Urban Ecosystems **18**:1427–1446.
- Erickson, W. P., G. D. Johnson, and D. P. J. Young. 2005. A summary and comparison of bird mortality from anthropogenic causes with an emphasis on collisions. Pages 1029–1042 *in*Bird Conservation Implementation and Integration in the Americas: Proceedings of the Third International Partners in Flight Conference, Asilomar, California.
- Evans Ogden, L. J. 1996. Collision course: the hazards of lighted structures and windows to migrating birds.
- Evans Ogden, L. J. 2002. Summary report on the Bird Friendly Building Program: effect of light reduction on collision of migratory birds.
- Federal Aviation Administration. 2016. Pilot's Handbook of Aeronautical Knowledge. U.S.
 Department of Transportation, Federal Aviation Administration. Technical Publication
 FAA-H-8083-258.
- Gelb, Y., and N. Delacretaz. 2006. Avian window strike mortality at an urban office building. The Kingbird **56**:190–198.
- Hager, S. B., and B. J. Cosentino. 2014. Surveying for bird carcasses resulting from window collisions: a standardized protocol. PeerJ PrePrints **2**.
- Hager, S. B., B. J. Cosentino, M. A. Aguilar-Gómez, M. L. Anderson, M. Bakermans, T. J.
 Boves, D. Brandes, M. W. Butler, E. M. Butler, N. L. Cagle, R. Calderón-Parra, A. P.
 Capparella, A. Chen, K. Cipollini, A. A. T. Conkey, T. A. Contreras, R. I. Cooper, C. E.
 Corbin, R. L. Curry, J. J. Dosch, M. G. Drew, K. Dyson, C. Foster, C. D. Francis, E.
 Fraser, R. Furbush, N. D. G. Hagemeyer, K. N. Hopfensperger, D. Klem, E. Lago, A.
 Lahey, K. Lamp, G. Lewis, S. R. Loss, C. S. Machtans, J. Madosky, T. J. Maness, K. J.
 McKay, S. B. Menke, K. E. Muma, N. Ocampo-Peñuela, T. J. O'Connell, R. OrtegaÁlvarez, A. L. Pitt, A. L. Puga-Caballero, J. E. Quinn, C. W. Varian-Ramos, C. S.
 Riding, A. M. Roth, P. G. Saenger, R. T. Schmitz, J. Schnurr, M. Simmons, A. D. Smith,
 D. R. Sokoloski, J. Vigliotti, E. L. Walters, L. A. Walters, J. T. Weir, K. Winnett-Murray,
 J. C. Withey, and I. Zuria. 2017. Continent-wide analysis of how urbanization affects
 bird-window collision mortality in North America. Biological Conservation 212:209–215.
- Hager, S. B., B. J. Cosentino, and K. J. McKay. 2012. Scavenging affects persistence of avian carcasses resulting from window collisions in an urban landscape. Journal of Field Ornithology 83:203–211.
- Hager, S. B., B. J. Cosentino, K. J. McKay, C. Monson, W. Zuurdeeg, and B. Blevins. 2013.Window area and development drive spatial variation in bird-window collisions in an urban landscape. PLoS One 8:e53371
- Hager, S. B., and M. E. Craig. 2014. Bird-window collisions in the summer breeding season. PeerJ 2:e460.

- Hager, S. B., H. Trudell, K. J. McKay, S. M. Crandall, and L. Mayer. 2008. Bird density and mortality at windows. The Wilson Journal of Ornithology 120:550–564.
- Homayoun, T. Z., and R. B. Blair. 2015. Value of park reserves to migrating and breeding landbirds in an urban important bird area. Urban Ecosystems **19**:1579–1596.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). 2013. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Working Group I Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York USA.
- Kerlinger, P., J. L. Gehring, W. P. Erickson, R. Curry, A. Jain, and J. Guarnaccia. 2010. Night migrant fatalities and obstruction lighting at wind turbines in North America. The Wilson Journal of Ornithology 122:744–754.
- Kleiber, C. and A. Zeileis. 2008. Applied Econometrics with R. New York: Springer-Verlag. ISBN 978-0-387-77316-2.
- Klem, D. 1989. Bird-window collisions. The Wilson Bulletin 101:606–620.
- Klem, D., K. L. DeGroot, E. A. Krebs, K. T. Fort, S. B. Elbin, and A. Prince. 2012. A second critique of Arnold and Zink 2011 [PLoS One 6:e24708]. PLoS One Comment. Retrieved from http://www.plosone.org/annotation/listThread.action?root=49197
- Klem, D., C. J. Farmer, N. Delacretaz, Y. Gelb, and P. G. Saenger. 2009. Architectural and landscape risk factors associated with bird–glass collisions in an urban environment. The Wilson Journal of Ornithology **121**:126–134.
- Kummer, J. A., C. J. Nordell, T. M. Berry, C. V. Collins, C. R. L. Tse, and E. M. Bayne. 2016.Use of bird carcass removals by urban scavengers to adjust bird-window collision estimates. Avian Conservation and Ecology 11.

- Kursa, M. B. and W. R. Rudnicki. 2010. Feature Selection with the Boruta Package. Journal of Statistical Software **36:** 1–13.
- La Sorte, F. A., D. Fink, J. J. Buler, A. Farnsworth, and S. A. Cabrera-Cruz. 2017. Seasonal associations with urban light pollution for nocturnally migrating bird populations. Glob Chang Biol **23**:4609–4619.
- Longcore, T., C. Rich, P. Mineau, B. MacDonald, D. G. Bert, L. M. Sullivan, E. Mutrie, S. A. Gauthreaux, M. L. Avery, R. L. Crawford, A. M. Manville, E. R. Travis, and D. Drake.
 2013. Avian mortality at communication towers in the United States and Canada: which species, how many, and where? Biological Conservation 158:410–419.
- Loss, S. R., S. Lao, A. W. Anderson, R. B. Blair, J. W. Eckles, and R. J. Turner. Inclement weather and an unusually large number of American Woodcock building collisions during spring migration in Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA. In prep.
- Loss, S. R., T. Will, S. S. Loss, and P. P. Marra. 2014. Bird–building collisions in the United States: estimates of annual mortality and species vulnerability. The Condor **116**:8–23.
- Loss, S. R., T. Will, and P. P. Marra. 2015. Direct Mortality of Birds from Anthropogenic Causes. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics **46**:99–120.
- Machtans, C. S., C. H. R. Wedeles, and E. M. Bayne. 2013. A first estimate for Canada of the number of birds killed by colliding with building windows. Avian Conservation and Ecology 8.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. 2018. National Centers for Environmental Information, Climate Data Online. Retrieved 7 November 2018, from https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cdo-web

- Nichols, K. S., T. Homayoun, J. Eckles, and R. B. Blair. 2018. Bird-building collision risk: An assessment of the collision risk of birds with buildings by phylogeny and behavior using two citizen-science datasets. PLoS One **13**:e0201558.
- Nilsson, C., R. H. Klaassen, and T. Alerstam. 2013. Differences in speed and duration of bird migration between spring and autumn. Am Nat **181**:837-845.
- Nisbet, I. C. T., and W. H. Drury. 1968. Short-term effects of weather on bird migration: A field study using multivariate statistics. Animal Behaviour **16**:496–530.
- O'Connell, T. J. 2001. Avian window strike mortality at a suburban office park. The Raven **72**:141–149.
- Partners in Flight. 2016. Watch List Species Table. Retrieved from https://www.partnersinflight.org/resources/pif-watch-list-table-2016/
- R Core Team. 2018. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/.
- Ramirez, P., K. Dickerson, J. Lindstrom, C. U. Meteyer, and S. Darrah. 2015. Lapland longspur mortality at an oil well drilling rig site, Laramie County, Wyoming. Wildlife Society Bulletin **39**:165-168.
- Riding, C. S., and S. R. Loss. 2018. Factors influencing experimental estimation of scavenger removal and observer detection in bird-window collision surveys. Ecol Appl 28:2119– 2129.
- Riding, C. S., T. J. O'Connell, and S. R. Loss. Multi-scale temporal variation in bird-window collisions in the central United States. In review.

- Schaub, M., M. Kéry, P. Korner, and F. Korner-Nievergelt. 2011. Critique of Arnold and Zink 2011 [PLoS One 6:e24708]. PLoS ONE Comment. Retreived from http://www.plosone.org/annotation/listThread.action?root=9659
- Schneider, R. M., C. M. Barton, K. W. Zirkle, C. F. Greene, and K. B. Newman. 2018. Yearround monitoring reveals prevalence of fatal bird-window collisions at the Virginia Tech Corporate Research Center. PeerJ 6:e4562.
- Strobl, C., A. Boulesteix, T. Kneib, T. Augustin, and A. Zeileis. 2008. Conditional Variable Importance for Random Forests. BMC Bioinformatics 9:307.
- Tøttrup, A. P., K. Rainio, T. Coppack, E. Lehikoinen, C. Rahbek, and K. Thorup. 2010. Local temperature fine-tunes the timing of spring migration in birds. Integr Comp Biol 50:293– 304.
- Van Belle, J., J. Shamoun-Baranes, E. Van Loon, and W. Bouten. 2007. An operational model predicting autumn bird migration intensities for flight safety. Journal of Applied Ecology 44:864–874.
- Van Doren, B. M., and K. G. Horton. 2018. A continental system for forecasting bird migration. Science **361**:1115–1118.
- Van Doren, B. M., K. G. Horton, A. M. Dokter, H. Klinck, S. B. Elbin, and A. Farnsworth. 2017.
 High-intensity urban light installation dramatically alters nocturnal bird migration.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.
- Venables, W. N. and B. D. Ripley. 2002. Modern Applied Statistics with S. Fourth Edition. Springer, New York. ISBN 0-387-95457-0.
- Wainwright, C. E., P. M. Stepanian, and K. G. Horton. 2016. The role of the US Great Plains low-level jet in nocturnal migrant behavior. Int J Biometeorol 60:1531–1542.

Zink, R. M., and J. Eckles. 2010. Twin Cities bird-building collisions: a status update on "Project Birdsafe". The Loon **82**:34–37.

Supplemental Materials

Table S1. Species removed from daily collision monitoring counts due to classification as permanent residents or diurnal migrants.

Common Name	Species Name
American Robin	Turdus migratorius
Black-capped Chickadee	Poecile atricapillus
Blue Jay	Cyanocitta cristata
Common Grackle	Quiscalus quiscula
Downy Woodpecker	Picoides pubescens
House Finch	Haemorhous mexicanus
House Sparrow	Passer domesticus
Rock Dove	Columba livia
Ruby-throated Hummingbird	Archilochus colubris
White-breasted Nuthatch	Sitta carolinensis
White-winged Crossbill	Loxia leucoptera

Table S2. Weather variables included in the top models for spring and fall based on analysis including data from 2017 and 2018 and with weather variables averaged across the entire night. For time lags, t-0 = no time lag (i.e., weather conditions the night preceding surveys), t-1 = 1-day time lag, t-2 = 2-day time lag. Relative importance indicates the sum of AIC weights (i.e., proportion of all models that include the variable) after testing all possible combinations of variables in R package *MuMIn*.

Saacan	Waathan Variabla	Time Log	Direction	Relative
Season	weather variable	Thile Lag	of Effect	Importance
	Cloud base height	t-1	+	0.81
		t-2	+	0.69
	Precipitation volume	t-2	+	0.84
C	Pressure	t-0	-	0.72
Spring		t-2	-	0.82
	Temperature	t-2	+	0.77
	Presence of S wind	t-1	+	0.81
		t-2	+	0.77
	Visibility	t-0	+	0.82
	Presence of N wind	t-0	+	0.96
		t-1	+	0.91
		t-2	+	0.65
Fall	Presence of S wind	t-0	+	0.79
ган		t-1	+	0.96
	Interaction of N wind	t-0, t-2	-	0.44
	Interaction of S wind	t-0, t-1	-	0.39
	Interaction of N and S wind	t-2, t-0	-	0.53
		(respectively)		0.35

Figure S1. Plots for spring 2017-2018 analysis with weather variables averaged across the entire night, showing relationships between daily collision counts and weather variables in the top-ranked model. t-0 = no time lag [i.e., weather conditions the night preceding surveys], t-1 = 1-day time lag, t-2 = 2-day time lag. A) cloud base height with a 1-day time lag; B) cloud base height with a 2-day time lag; C) precipitation volume with a 2-day time lag; D) pressure the night preceding surveys; E) pressure with a 2-day time lag; G) presence of south wind with a 1-day time lag; and H) presence of south wind with a 2-day time lag.



Figure S2. Plots for fall 2017-2018 analysis with weather variables averaged across the entire night, showing relationships between daily collision counts and weather variables in the top-ranked model. t-0 = no time lag [i.e., weather conditions the night preceding surveys], t-1 = 1-day time lag, t-2 = 2-day time lag. A) visibility with no time lag; B) presence of north wind the night preceding surveys; C) presence of north wind with a 1-day time lag; D) presence of north wind with a 2-day time lag; B) presence of south wind with a 1-day time lag; G) the interaction of north wind the night preceding surveys; F) presence of south wind with a 2-day time lag; H) the interaction of south wind the night preceding surveys and north wind with a 1-day time lag; H) the interaction of south wind the night preceding surveys and south wind with a 1-day time lag; and I) the interaction of south wind the night preceding surveys and north wind with a 2-day time lag.



Table S3. Model selection results for analysis of weather variables associated with bird-building collision counts in spring 2017 and 2018 averaged over different parts of the night. See Table S7 for the final model selection results after substituting back highly correlated variables in the top-ranked model. Time of night is represented by: SS = sunset; N1 = first half of the night; N2 = second half of the night; SR = sunrise. Time lags are represented by numbers at the end of each variable: 0 = no time lag (i.e., weather conditions the night preceding surveys); 1 = 1-day time lag; 2 = 2-day time lag.

Models	AIC	ΔΑΙΟ	df	weight	Resid Dev
N_N1_1 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 + Pressure N1 0 + Pressure N1 2 + Temp N1 0	412.4	0	8	0.4028	147.7
CloudBase_N1_2 + N_N1_1 + Precip_in_N1_2 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 + Pressure_N1_0 + Pressure N1_2 + Temp_N1_0	412.4	0	10	0.3983	150
CloudBase_N1_2 + Precip_in_N1_2 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 + N_N1_1 + Pressure_N1_0*Pressure_N1_1 + Pressure_N1_2 + Temp_N1_0	414.8	2.4	12	0.1207	149.4
CloudBase_N1_1 + CloudBase_N1_2 + N_N1_1 + Precip_in_N1_2 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 + Pressure_N1_0 + Pressure_N1_1 + Pressure_N1_2 + Temp_N1_0 + WindSpeed_SR_0	418.7	6.3	13	0.0171	149
Precip_in_N1_2 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 + Pressure_N1_0 + Temp_N1_0 + WindSpeed_SR_0	419.2	6.8	8	0.0133	148
Precip_in_N1_2 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 + Pressure_N1_1 + Temp_N1_0 + WindSpeed_SR_0	419.3	7	8	0.0124	148.8
Precip_in_N1_2 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 + Pressure_N1_0 + Temp_N1_0	419.7	7.3	7	0.0105	148.3
Precip_in_N1_2 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 + Pressure N1 1 + Temp N1 0	419.8	7.4	7	0.01	149.4
Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 + Pressure_N1_1 + Temp_N1_0 + WindSpeed_SR_0	420.1	7.7	7	0.0084	149.6
CloudBase_N1_1 + Precip_in_N1_2 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 + Pressure_N1_0 + Pressure_N1_1 + Temp_N1_0 + WindSpeed_SR_0	421.4	9.1	10	0.0043	147.4
CloudBase_N1_1 + Precip_in_N1_2*Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 + Pressure_N1_0*Pressure_N1_1 + Temp_N1_0 + WindSpeed_SR_0	423.5	11.2	12	0.0015	148.6
CloudBase_N1_1*CloudBase_N1_2 + N_N1_1 + Precip_in_N1_2*Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 + Pressure_N1_0*Pressure_N1_1 + Pressure_N1_2 + Pressure_N1_0:Pressure_N1_2 + Pressure_N1_1:Pressure_N1_2 + Temp_N1_0 + WindSpeed SR 0	425.7	13.3	18	<0.001	147.7
Null	467.9	55.5	2	< 0.001	236

Table S4. Model selection results for analysis of weather variables associated with bird-building collision counts in fall 2017 and 2018 averaged over different parts of the night. See Table S8 for the final model selection results after substituting back highly correlated variables in the top-ranked model. Time of night is represented by: SS = sunset; N1 = first half of the night; N2 = second half of the night; SR = sunrise. Time lags are represented by numbers at the end of each variable: 0 = no time lag (i.e., weather conditions the night preceding surveys); 1 = 1-day time lag; 2 = 2-day time lag.

Models	AIC	ΔΑΙΟ	df	weight	Resid Dev
CloudBase_N1_0*CloudBase_SR_0 + CloudConditions_SR_2 + N_N2_0*S_SS_0 + Pressure_N1_0 + S_SS_1 + Visibility_N1_0	759.9	0	12	0.5394	175.2
CloudBase_N1_0*CloudBase_SR_0 + CloudConditions_SR_1*CloudConditions_SR_2 + Pressure_N1_0 + N_N2_0*S_SS_0 + S_SS_1 + VisibilityMi_N1_0	760.6	0.7	14	0.3725	176.2
CloudBase_N1_1 + CloudBase_SR_0 + CloudConditions_SR_2+ N_N2_0 + Pressure_N1_0 + S_SS_2 + S_SS_1 + Visibility_N1_0	765.5	5.6	10	0.0326	176.1
CloudBase_N1_0 + CloudConditions_SR_1*CloudConditions_SR_2 + N_N2_0 + Pressure_N1_0 + S_SS_1 + S_SS_2 + Visibility_N1_0	766.7	6.9	11	0.0172	175
CloudBase_N1_0 + CloudBase_N1_1 + CloudConditions_SR_2 + N_N2_0 + Pressure_N1_0 + S_SS_1 + S_SS_2 + Visibility_N1_0	766.8	6.9	10	0.0169	176.2
CloudConditions_SR_1*CloudConditions_SR_2 + N_N2_0 + Pressure_N1_0 + S_SS_1 + S_SS_2 + Visibility_N1_0	766.9	7.1	10	0.0156	173.6
CloudConditions_SR_2 + N_N1_0 + Pressure_N1_0 + S SS 0^*S SS $1 + S$ SS $2 + N$ N1 0:S SS 0	770.2	10.4	10	0.003	173
CloudBase_N1_0*CloudBase_SR_0 + CloudBase_N1_1 + CloudConditions_SR_1*CloudConditions_SR_2 + S_SS_0 + VisibilityMi_N1_0	772.1	12.3	11	0.0012	175.7
CloudBase_N1_0 + CloudBase_N1_1 + CloudConditions_SR_1*CloudConditions_SR_2 + N_N1_0*N_N2_0 + Pressure_N1_0 + S_SS_0*S_SS_1 + S_SS_2 + S_SS_0:N_N1_0 + S_SS_0:N_N2_0 + S_SS_1:N_N1_0 + S_SS_1:N_N2_0 + S_SS_2:N_N1_0 + S_SS_2:N_N2_0 + Visibility_N1_0	772.4	12.6	21	0.001	178.5
CloudBase_N1_0 + CloudBase_N1_1 + CloudBase_SR_0 + CloudConditions_SR_1 + CloudConditions_SR_2 + N_N1_0 + N_N2_0 + Pressure_N1_0 + S_SS_0 + S_SS_2 + S_SS_1 + N_N2_2 + Visibility_SS_0 + Visibility_N1_0	773.7	13.9	15	<0.001	175.8
CloudBase_N1_0*CloudBase_N1_1 + CloudConditions_SR_1*CloudConditions_SR_2 + S_SS_0 + Visibility_SS_0 + Visibility_N1_0	777.8	17.9	14	<0.001	175.4
CloudBase_N1_0 + CloudBase_N1_1*CloudBase_SR_0 + CloudConditions_SR_2*CloudConditions_SR_2 + S_SS_0 + Visibility_N1_0	779	19.2	7	<0.001	173.3

CloudBase_N1_0 + CloudBase_N1_1 +	782.9	23	9	< 0.001	173.4
CloudConditions_SR_1*CloudConditions_SR_2 + S_SS_0					
+ Visibility_SS_0					
CloudBase_N1_0 + CloudBase_N1_1 + CloudBase_SR_0 +	783.8	23.9	10	< 0.001	173.2
CloudConditions_SR_1 + CloudConditions_SR_2 +					
S_SS_0 + Visibility_SS_0 + Visibility_N1_0					
Null	802.7	42.8	2	< 0.001	259.5

Table S5. Model selection results for analysis of weather variables associated with bird-building collision counts in spring 2017 and 2018 averaged over the entire night. Temp_0 was highly correlated with Temp_1 and Temp_2; in the final model shown in Table S2, we used Temp_2 because it improved model fit (AIC = 425.1). Time lags are represented by numbers at the end of each variable: 0 = no time lag (i.e., weather conditions the night preceding surveys); 1 = 1-day time lag; 2 = 2-day time lag.

Models	AIC	ΔΑΙC	df	weight	Resid Dev
CloudBase_1 + CloudBase_2 + Precip_in_2 + Pressure_0 + Pressure_2 + S_1 + S_2 + Temp_0	426.6	0	10	0.225	151.4
CloudBase_1 + CloudBase_2 + Precip_in_2 + Pressure 0*Pressure 1 + Pressure 2 + S 1 + S 2	427.2	0.6	11	0.1679	149.5
CloudBase_1 + CloudBase_2 + Precip_in_2 + Pressure_0 + Pressure_2 + S_1 + S_2	427.2	0.6	9	0.1651	152.8
CloudBase_1 + Precip_in_2 + Pressure_0 + Pressure_2 + S_1 + S_2 + Temp_0	427.4	0.8	9	0.1485	150
CloudBase_1 + CloudBase_2 + Precip_in_2 + Pressure_2 + S_1 + S_2 + Temp_0	427.8	1.2	9	0.1248	152.5
CloudBase_2 + Pressure_0 + Pressure_2 + Temp_0	430.4	3.8	6	0.0331	151.4
CloudBase_1 + Pressure_0 + Pressure_2 + Temp_0	430.6	4.1	6	0.0297	152.3
CloudBase_0 + CloudBase_1 + CloudBase_2 + Precip_in_2 + Pressure_0 + Pressure_1 + Pressure_2 + S_1 + S_2 + Temp_0	431.1	4.6	12	0.0229	151.3
CloudBase_1 + Pressure_1 + Pressure_2 + Temp_0	431.2	4.6	6	0.022	151.7
Pressure_0 + Pressure_2 + Temp_0	431.4	4.8	5	0.0203	150
CloudBase_2 + Pressure_2 + Temp_0	431.4	4.9	5	0.0199	152.3
CloudBase_1 + Pressure_1 + Temp_0	431.7	5.2	5	0.017	152.7
CloudBase_0 + CloudBase_1 + CloudBase_2 + Pressure_0 + Pressure_1 + Pressure_2 + Temp_0	434.9	8.3	9	0.0036	152.4
CloudBase_1 + CloudBase_2 + Precip_in_2 + Pressure_0*Pressure_1 + Pressure_2 + S_1 + S_2	440.3	13.8	19	<0.001	148.4
CloudBase_0*CloudBase_1 + CloudBase_0:CloudBase_2 + CloudBase_1:CloudBase_2 + CloudBase_2 + Pressure_0*Pressure_1 + Pressure_0:Pressure_2 + Pressure_1:Pressure_2 + Pressure_2 + Temp_0	445.9	19.3	15	< 0.001	149.2
Null	467.9	41.3	2	< 0.001	226.2

Models	AIC	ΔΑΙC	df	weight	Resid
	772.0	0	1.1	0.0576	Dev
$N_0 + N_1 + N_2 * S_0 + S_1 + N_0 : N_2 + S_0 : S_1 + N_0 : N_2 + S_0 : S_1 + S_0 : S_0 : S_1 + S_0 : S_0 $	773.2	0	11	0.2576	173.2
Visibility_0					
$CloudBase_0 + N_0*N_2 + N_1 + S_0 + S_1 + N_1:S_0 +$	773.3	0.2	12	0.238	174.4
$N_2:S_0 + Visibility_0$					
$CloudBase_0 + CloudBase_1 + N_0 * S_1 + N_1 +$	774.1	0.9	9	0.1649	173.7
Visibility_0					
$CloudBase_0 + CloudBase_1 + N_0 + N_1 + S_1 +$	774.5	1.4	8	0.1302	173.3
Visibility_0					
$CloudBase_0 + CloudBase_1 + N_0*N_2 + N_1 +$	775	1.8	15	0.1029	175
$S_0*S_1 + S_2 + N_0:S_2 + N_2:S_0 + Visibility_0$					
CloudBase_0 + N_0 + Pressure_0 + Visibility_0	777.7	4.5	6	0.0268	172.5
CloudBase_0 + CloudBase_1 + N_0 + Visibility_0	777.8	4.6	6	0.0253	173.2
CloudBase_0 + N_0 + Visibility_0	777.8	4.7	5	0.0251	172.6
CloudBase_0 + CloudBase_1 + Pressure_0 + N_0 +	777.9	4.8	8	0.0239	173.7
Pressure_1 + Visibility_0					
CloudBase_0*CloudBase_1 + N_0 +	782.2	9	10	0.0029	173.6
Pressure_0*Pressure_1 + Visibility_0					
$CloudBase_0 + CloudBase_1 + N_1 + N_2 + Pressure_0 + $	782.8	9.6	14	0.0021	173.8
N 0 + Pressure 1 + S 0 + S 1 + S 2 + Visibility 0 +					
WindSpeed_2					
CloudBase_0 + CloudBase_1 + Pressure_0 + Pressure_1 +	786.9	13.7	21	< 0.001	174.6
$N_0*N_2 + N_1 + S_0*S_1 + S_2 + S_0:S_2 + N_0:S_1 +$					
$N_0:S_2 + S_0:N_1 + S_0:N_2 + Visibility_0 +$					
WindSpeed_2					
Null	802.7	29.5	2	< 0.001	232.3

Table S6. Model selection results for analysis of weather variables associated with bird-building collision counts in fall 2017 and 2018 averaged over the entire night. Time lags are represented by numbers at the end of each variable: 0 = no time lag (i.e., weather conditions the night preceding surveys); 1 = 1-day time lag; 2 = 2-day time lag.

Table S7. AIC table comparing model fit for the top model for spring (variables averaged over different parts of the night; see Table S5) and models with substitutions of highly correlated pressure and temperature variables. Original top model denoted by ^. Other temperature variables also performed better than the original top model, but were not competitive compared to those reported here. No other substitutions for highly correlated variables performed better than the original top model.

Models	AIC	ΔΑΙΟ	df	weight	Resid Dev
N_N1_1 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 +	405.9	0	8	0.34	148.6
Pressure_N2_0 + Pressure_SS_2 + Temp_SS_2					
N_N1_1 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 +	406.5	0.6	8	0.252	147.3
Pressure_N2_0 + Pressure_SS_2 + Temp_N1_2					
N_N1_1 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 +	407	1.1	8	0.195	149.2
Pressure_N1_0 + Pressure_N1_2 + Temp_SS_2					
N_N1_1 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 +	408	2.1	8	0.118	148
Pressure_N1_0 + Pressure_N1_2 + Temp_N1_2					
N_N1_1 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 +	410.4	4.6	8	0.035	147.3
Pressure_N2_0 + Pressure_SS_2 + Temp_N1_0					
N_N1_1 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 +	410.7	4.9	8	0.03	147.9
Pressure_N1_0 + Pressure_SS_2 + Temp_N1_0					
N_N1_1 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 +	411.9	6	8	0.017	147
Pressure_N2_0 + Pressure_N1_2 + Temp_N1_0					
^N_N1_1 + Precip_in_N2_1 + Precip_SS_1 +	412.4	6.5	8	0.013	147.7
Pressure_N1_0 + Pressure_N1_2 + Temp_N1_0					

Table S8. AIC table comparing model fit for the top model for fall (variables averaged over different parts of the night; see Table S6) and models with substitutions of highly correlated pressure variables. Original top model denoted by ^. No other substitutions for highly correlated variables performed better than the original top model.

Models	AIC	ΔΑΙC	df	weight	Resid
					Dev
CloudBase_N1_0*CloudBase_SR_0 +	757.7	0	12	0.43	175.1
CloudConditions_SR_2 + N_N2_0*S_SS_0 +					
Pressure_N2_0 + S_SS_1 + Visibility_N1_0					
CloudBase_N1_0*CloudBase_SR_0 +	757.7	0	12	0.43	175.2
CloudConditions_SR_2 + N_N2_0*S_SS_0 +					
Pressure_SR_0 + S_SS_1 + Visibility_N1_0					
^CloudBase_N1_0*CloudBase_SR_0 +	759.8	2.3	12	0.14	175.2
CloudConditions_SR_2 + N_N2_0*S_SS_0 +					
Pressure_N1_0 + S_SS_1 + Visibility_N1_0					

CHAPTER II

INVESTIGATING THE INFLUENCE OF ARTIFICIAL NIGHT LIGHTING AND POLARIZED LIGHT ON BIRD-BUILDING COLLISIONS

Sirena Lao¹, Bruce A. Robertson², Abigail W. Anderson³, Robert B. Blair³, Joanna W. Eckles^{4,5}, Reed J. Turner⁴, Scott R. Loss¹

¹ Department of Natural Resource Ecology & Management, Oklahoma State University, 008C Agricultural Hall, Stillwater, OK, 74078 USA

² Bard Ecology Field Station, Bard College, 30 Campus Drive, Annandale-on-Hudson, New York, 12504

³ Department of Fisheries, Wildlife, and Conservation Biology, University of Minnesota, 135 Skok Hall, 2003 Upper Buford Circle, St. Paul, MN 55108 USA

⁴ Audubon Minnesota, 1 West Water Street, Suite 200, St. Paul, MN 55107 USA

⁵ The Raptor Center, College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Minnesota, 1920 Fitch Avenue, St. Paul, MN 55108 USA

Abstract

Collisions with buildings annually kill up to 1 billion birds in the United States. Bird-building collisions primarily occur at glass surfaces: birds often fail to perceive glass as a barrier and appear to be attracted to artificial light emitted from windows. However, birds perceive light differently than humans and some aspects of avian vision are poorly understood, including how bird responses to different types of light influence building collisions. Some evidence suggests birds can detect polarized light, which may serve as a cue to assist with migration orientation and/or detect water bodies. Dark, reflective surfaces, including glass, reflect high degrees of polarized light, causing polarized light pollution (PLP). However, no studies have analyzed the relationship between bird collisions and artificially polarized light reflected from buildings. Additionally, while artificial light at night (ALAN) is frequently implicated as a major factor influencing bird-building collisions, few studies have analyzed this relationship. We investigated both types of light pollution—PLP and ALAN—and their association with bird collisions at individual facades of 13 buildings in Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA. We found that the area of glass emitting ALAN was the most important factor influencing collisions, even after accounting for overall glass area; this result provides strong support for turning off lights at night to reduce bird-building collisions. Although we found no relationship between artificially polarized light and collisions, designing glass surfaces and retrofitting existing glass to reduce both types of light pollution should contribute to significantly reducing bird-building collisions.

Introduction

Building collisions are a major source of avian mortality, killing 365–988 million birds each year in the United States (Loss et al. 2014). Bird-building collisions occur primarily at glass surfaces, with birds failing to perceive as barriers panes that are transparent or that reflect sky and/or vegetation (Klem 1989). Susceptibility to collisions could be exacerbated at night, when nocturnally migrating birds seem to be attracted to or disoriented by lighting emanating from windows (Evans Ogden 2002, Keyes and Sexton 2014, Parkins et al. 2015). Supporting these observations, studies have shown that the area and/or proportion of buildings covered by glass and the distance of vegetation from buildings are positively correlated with collisions (Klem et al. 2009, Borden et al. 2010, Cusa et al. 2015, Hager et al. 2013, 2017), and further, that most collision victims are nocturnal migrants (Arnold & Zink 2011, Loss et al. 2014, Nichols et al. 2018). However, few studies have formally analyzed the relationship between artificial light at night (ALAN) and building collisions despite the oft-cited importance of this factor. Moreover, nearly all bird-building collision studies assessing the role of lighting have drawn conclusions based only on light visible to humans, despite the fact that birds perceive and respond differently to light.

ALAN changes natural patterns of light and dark in ecosystems, causing a wide range of effects on animal behaviors and activity patterns (Longcore and Rich 2004). At broad scales, ALAN can disorient birds and concentrate them in urban areas (La Sorte et al. 2017, McLaren et al. 2018, Van Doren et al. 2017). At finer scales within urban areas, lights emitted from and near buildings and other structures can attract birds, particularly on nights with low clouds and/or visibility (Avery et al. 1976, Evans Ogden 2002, Erickson et al. 2005, Kerlinger et al. 2010, Rebke et al. 2019). Anecdotal evidence suggests that ALAN contributes to bird-building collisions, but few peer-reviewed studies have formally analyzed this relationship, except one

study that found an association between light emission and bird collisions but was unable to isolate the correlated effects of light emission and glass area (Parkins et al. 2015). Thus, further research is needed to formally assess effects of ALAN relative to other variables influencing bird-building collisions.

In addition to ALAN, other aspects of light may play a role in bird-building collisions. Considering these effects requires recognition that birds have different visual systems and perceive light differently than humans (Maier and Bowmaker 1993, Martin 2011). A poorly understood aspect of avian vision is the degree to which birds detect polarized light and whether it influences behavior and collision risk. Sunlight is *unpolarized* before entering earth's atmosphere, meaning the electric field vectors (E-vector) of light waves vibrate in all directions (Fig. 1). Light is *polarized* when the light source (i.e., *incident light*) reflects off a surface that causes the E-vector of reflected light to vibrate in a single plane. The *degree of polarization* is the percentage of reflected light that is polarized, which depends on characteristics of the reflecting surface and the angle of incident light. Generally, smooth, dark surfaces and low angles of incident light cause high degrees of polarization (Umov 1905).



Figure 2.1. Example of how unpolarized incident light (e.g., sunlight) becomes polarized after reflecting off a surface.

In nature, the most common light-polarizing surface is water. However, any smooth, dark surface can polarize light, and human-built surfaces such as buildings, solar panels, and roads create polarized light pollution (PLP), which is analogous to ALAN in changing naturally occurring patterns of polarized light in ecosystems (Horváth et al. 2009). PLP is characterized by high degrees of polarization reflected at a horizontal angle, and several animal species perceive horizontally polarized light to locate water-associated breeding areas and food sources (Horváth et al. 2009). These species can be attracted to and entrapped by PLP; for example, aquatic insects like mayflies (Ephemeroptera) and caddisflies (Trichoptera) land in large numbers and attempt to oviposit on highly polarizing artificial surfaces like windows (e.g., Kriska et al. 2008, Malik et al. 2009, Robertson et al. 2010). Birds may also detect polarized light and use it as a navigational cue; specifically, migrating songbirds may use polarization patterns in the sky at twilight to calibrate their magnetic compass (Able and Able 1995, Cochran et al. 2004, Muheim et al. 2006, 2007, 2009). Very little research has assessed if birds are also attracted to polarized light reflected from natural or artificial surfaces, but anecdotally, water birds have been found dead or stranded at night on asphalt roads and parking lots that produce PLP by reflecting light from streetlamps (Horváth et al. 2009). Experiments also suggest that some songbirds are attracted to horizontal surfaces that polarize light (Easthausen 2015). Despite the potential for birds to perceive polarized light, no research has addressed whether PLP at buildings helps explain variation in bird collision rates.

We conducted bird collision monitoring at 48 building façades of 13 buildings in Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA, to assess if collisions are related to: (1) the emission of ALAN from windows at night, after accounting for glass area, and (2) the degree of polarized light reflected from building surfaces. We hypothesized collisions would be positively correlated with

both ALAN and PLP due to their potential attraction and entrapment effects. As migratory bird populations have declined precipitously over the last several decades (Soykan et al. 2016), studying all potential factors contributing to mortality, including effects of ALAN and PLP on bird-building collisions, will improve understanding and mitigation of factors contributing to avian declines.

Methods

Study Site and Building Selection

We conducted this study in downtown Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA as part of a larger study investigating the factors influencing variation in collisions among buildings and through time. Downtown Minneapolis is a highly urbanized city center located adjacent to the Mississippi River and within the Mississippi Flyway, and large numbers of migratory birds use green spaces in this area as stopover habitat during both spring and fall (Homayoun and Blair 2015). For this study, we collected data from individual building façades, which we defined as discrete faces of buildings oriented in different directions. However, for some irregularly shaped buildings, we combined data from adjacent façades when we were unable to distinguish the façade at which collisions occurred. We also excluded some façades from analysis because we were unable to obtain reliable estimates of glass, ALAN, and/or PLP variables due to unusual façade characteristics (e.g., angled glass with setbacks, façades with multiple tiered levels that obstructed views of the entire façade). We ultimately collected data from 48 building façades that are part of 13 buildings, a subset of the 21 buildings we monitored for the other study. These 21 buildings were selected using several criteria to capture spatial variation and a range of expected collision numbers (see Loss et al., in prep). We only analyzed the subset of 13 buildings for this study because, in addition to the above façade-related limitations, security and

access limitations prevented us from taking high-quality photos in close proximity to some buildings. Nonetheless, this study captured a variety of building types, including low-rises, highrises, and a multi-use stadium (range: 5–57 floors), and a broad range of observed collisions and building characteristics (e.g., building surfaces, amount of glass).

Collision Monitoring

In 2017 and 2018, we surveyed buildings during spring migration (15 March to 31 May), late spring migration/early summer (1 Jun to 30 Jun), and fall migration (15 August to 31 October). Surveys began every morning at approximately sunrise. On a subset of dates, we also conducted additional mid-day and late afternoon surveys at all buildings to evaluate the number of bird collisions throughout the day. Following a standardized survey protocol adapted from Hager and Cosentino (2014), trained surveyors walked a fixed route and surveyed accessible portions of each façade. To account for time-of-day and lighting effects, surveyors began routes at different buildings each day and monitored buildings in a clockwise direction on even dates and a counter-clockwise direction on odd dates. During spring 2017, buildings were assigned to two separate fixed routes, and the start building for each route shifted to the next building in the sequence each day. Because surveyors were able to complete both routes within ~1.5–2.5 hours, we merged the routes starting in June 2017 and used a random number generator to select the start building each day.

For all birds found within ~5 m of a building façade, surveyors entered the date, time, location, species, and photos in an ArcGIS Online form. Most dead birds were placed in sealable plastic bags and stored in freezers. For birds found alive but stunned after colliding with a building, surveyors attempted to capture the bird when possible and place it in an unlined paper

bag. Captured birds were later released in parks outside of the downtown area or brought to a rehabilitation center. Birds were collected under U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service Scientific Collecting Permit #MB05120C-1 and Minnesota Department of Natural Resources Salvage Permit #20412, and animal handling protocols were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Oklahoma State University (#AG-17-6).

As part of the companion study, we left a subset of dead birds in place and attached a twist-tie around one leg to conduct scavenger removal trials, which quantified how long carcasses persisted before a scavenger or human removed them from the survey area (Hager et al. 2012, Bracey et al. 2016, Kummer et al. 2016b, Riding and Loss 2018). Scavenger removal trials and searcher detection trials (to account for imperfect detection of carcasses by surveyors; Bracey et al. 2016, Riding and Loss 2018) were used in the companion study to calculate bias-adjusted mortality estimates at each building. However, for this study of ALAN and PLP, we only considered unadjusted (i.e., raw) collision counts (including both fatal and non-fatal collisions) because we did not have enough replicates of scavenger removal and searcher detection trials at individual building façades to produce reliable bias-adjusted estimates at the façade level. We also removed from counts any birds that were potential skyway collisions (i.e., birds that may have collided with glass walkways connecting the monitored building façades) or parts of birds that may have resulted from predation events instead of collisions.

Measuring Artificial Light at Night

Of note for the following variables, we treated windows and glass as different features; windows were considered areas of glass with openings behind them while glass included both windows and areas of glass without openings behind them. For each of the 48 building façades,

we measured the surface area of windows lighted at night (hereafter: lighting area) and the proportion of all glass lighted at night (hereafter: lighting proportion). For lighting proportion, we divided lighting area by area of all glass surfaces because we expected collisions to be influenced by all types of glass. To generate these variables, we first calculated glass area by taking direct measurements of glass panes using a measuring tape whenever possible. When direct measurements were not possible, we photographed all building façades and used ImageJ (Schneider et al. 2012) and a known-dimension reference (e.g., one directly-measured edge of a glass pane) to calculate the area of every pane of glass. To measure ALAN and to capture night-to-night lighting variation, we photographed all building façades on three separate nights at least 1 hour after sunset but before midnight during the collision-monitoring season. Using these photos, we then counted the number of windows emitting any amount of light and calculated lighting area by summing the area of all lighted windows for each night and then averaging across all nights. Finally, we calculated lighting percentage by dividing average lighting area by glass area.

We also calculated several glass variables for each façade to account for correlations between lighting and glass and to compare their relative importance in predicting bird collisions. These glass variables included total glass area (sum of area of all glass panes), glass proportion (glass area divided by the area of each façade), maximum pane area (area of largest individual glass pane), and average pane area (average area of all glass panes).

Measuring Polarized Light Pollution

To measure PLP for each building façade, we used a manual polarimeter (Estrato R&D Ltd.), which consisted of a Canon EOS 650D DSLR camera and a Tamron 18–200 mm lens

customized with a rotating polarized light filter. For each surface type on a façade (e.g., glass, brick, concrete), we captured a set of three images with the polarizer rotated to a different position for each image (176.9 degrees, 59.8 degrees, and 122.9 degrees). To capture the highest degree of polarization for each surface, we tilted the camera lens upward at an angle of approximately 56 degrees from horizontal, which is the angle at which light reflected from glass is maximally polarized (Brewster 1815). All photos were taken during the day between 0545 and 1400 hours in cloudy or overcast conditions to capture incident light scattered from multiple directions. Photos were then processed in Polarworks (Estrato R&D Ltd.), a program that combines the three images and generates a modified image displaying polarization characteristics for each surface in the photo (Fig. 2).



Figure 2.2. Steps for obtaining polarized light characteristics of buildings. A) Three photos were taken of every building façade, each with the polarizer rotated to a different position. B) Photos were uploaded to Polarworks (Estrato R&D Ltd.) and converted from RAW to TIF format. C) Polarworks combined the three photos and generated an image depicting polarization characteristics; this image shows the degree of polarization with darker areas indicating surfaces with high degrees of polarization and lighter areas indicating surfaces with low degrees of polarization.

Using ImageJ and the modified images from Polarworks, we quantified PLP metrics for each façade. We changed images to 8-bit format and used the Polygon Selections tool to draw a polygon on each façade surface of interest. We then used the Measure tool to generate mean pixel intensity in the range of 0 to 255, where 0 indicates pure black and 255 indicates pure white. We repeated this process several times for each surface of interest to ensure consistent measurements. By dividing the mean pixel intensity by 255 and multiplying by 100, we obtained the percentage of "whiteness" of each selected area. We subtracted this result from 100 to calculate the degree of polarization of each surface, represented by the percentage of "blackness" of the pixels in the selected area. We then calculated the overall degree of polarization for each building façade by estimating the percentage of each façade surface using ImageJ and multiplying the percentage of each surface by its degree of polarization to generate a weighted average (hereafter: polarization index) that ascribes greater weight to surfaces comprising a larger portion of the façade. In addition to polarization index, we measured three other polarized light variables for each façade: the degree of polarized light reflected from the most-polarizing surface, which was glass in most cases (hereafter: maximum polarization), the degree of polarized light reflected from the least-polarizing surface (hereafter: minimum polarization), and the difference between the maximum and minimum degrees of polarization (hereafter: polarization contrast).

Statistical Analysis

All analyses were conducted in R 3.5.2 (R Core Team 2018). To determine which variables to formally analyze, we first tested whether there were any highly correlated pairs of variables among glass variables (glass area and proportion, and maximum and average pane

area), ALAN variables (lighting area and proportion), and PLP variables (polarization index, maximum and minimum polarization, and polarization contrast). Only polarization contrast and minimum polarization were highly correlated (r > |0.7|). Because Akaike's Information Criterion adjusted for small sample sizes (AICc; Burnham and Anderson 2002) showed minimum polarization to be a better predictor of collisions than polarization contrast (Table 3), we excluded polarization contrast from further analyses.

We used R package *lme4* (Bates et al. 2015) to construct generalized linear mixed models (GLMM) with unadjusted collision counts as the response variable, the above ALAN and PLP variables as fixed effects, and building as a random effect to account for non-independence of individual façades nested within the same building. We also included an offset term for the number of collision surveys conducted at each façade to account for varying effort that arose due to occasional access restrictions (e.g., construction and public events). Because the collision count data were overdispersed, we used negative binomial GLMMs. To evaluate the importance of each ALAN and PLP variable, we constructed a model including additive effects of all five ALAN and PLP variables and conducted a likelihood ratio test using function 'drop1'. We validated the result by constructing models with all additive combinations of lighting and polarized light variables and comparing model fit using AICc. Finally, to evaluate the importance of all single-variable models.

Results

We observed 768 fatal and non-fatal bird collisions at the 48 surveyed façades (range: 0– 194 per façade). Based on likelihood ratio tests, we found that lighting area and lighting proportion had statistically significant positive associations with numbers of collisions, with

lighting area as the most informative predictor, and that polarized light variables were unassociated with collisions (Table 2.1, Fig. 2.3). This result was supported by the AICc rankings of all possible additive models containing ALAN and PLP variables (Table 2.2); specifically, the top model included positive effects of lighting proportion and average lighting area, no PLP variables, and had an AICc weight roughly five times greater than the next best model.

Table 2.1. Results of likelihood ratio test (LRT) with single-term deletions of polarized light and artificial night lighting variables. Differences in AIC values between the full model ("None") and other models represent the change in AIC associated with dropping the variable from the full model; thus, higher AIC values represent greater reduction in model support with exclusion of the focal variable. Asterisks in the right column represent statistically significant variables.

Variable dropped	AIC	LRT	p (chi)
None	295.06		
Polarized light index	293.09	0.0331	0.85571
Maximum polarization	293.15	0.0879	0.76683
Minimum polarization	294.46	1.3980	0.23706
Lighting proportion	299.63	6.5709	0.01037 *
Average lighting area	315.89	22.8270	1.773e-06 *



Figure 2.3. Dot-whisker plot of fixed effects of polarized light and artificial night lighting variables. Variables were included in a negative binomial GLMM with building as a random effect and number of surveys as an offset term.

Table 2.2. Model selection results for analysis of bird-building collisions in relation to artificial night lighting (lighting proportion, average lighting area) and polarized light variables (polarization index, maximum polarization, minimum polarization). All models were negative binomial GLMMs with building as a random effect and number of surveys as an offset term. Only models that do not include uninformative parameters and performed better than the null model are shown.

Model	AICc	ΔAICc	df	Weight
Lighting proportion + Average lighting area	292.2	0	5	0.83
Average lighting area	295.4	3.2	4	0.17
Lighting proportion	310.7	18.5	4	< 0.001
Null	317.6	25.4	3	< 0.001

AICc comparisons of all single-variable models for ALAN, PLP, and glass variables showed that lighting area was the best predictor of collisions, followed by average pane area (Table 3). No other single-variable ALAN and window area models were competitive, having $\Delta AICc \ge 7$ but performing better than the null model. All of the single-variable polarized light models had $\Delta AICc > 22$ and ranked behind the null model.

Table 2.3. AICc table comparing fit for all single-variable negative binomial GLMMs with building as a random effect and number of surveys as an offset term.

Model	AICc	∆AICc	df	Weight
Average lighting area	295.4	0	4	0.695
Average pane area	297.2	1.8	4	0.283
Maximum pane area	302.3	7.0	4	0.021
Total glass area	310.3	15.0	4	< 0.001
Lighting proportion	310.7	15.3	4	< 0.001
Glass percentage	316.7	21.3	4	< 0.001
Null	317.6	22.2	3	< 0.001
Minimum polarization	318.2	22.8	4	< 0.001
Maximum polarization	319.7	24.3	4	< 0.001
Polarization index	319.8	24.4	4	< 0.001
Polarization contrast	319.9	24.5	4	< 0.001

Discussion

This was the first study to simultaneously evaluate how bird-building collisions are influenced by two different types of light pollution: artificial light at night (ALAN) emanating from building windows and polarized light pollution (PLP) reflected from artificial building surfaces including glass. Our results provide the first evidence that ALAN emanating from building windows correlates with bird-building collisions independent of glass area. Specifically, we found that the area of lighted windows and proportion of glass lighted at night were important predictors of collisions, and that lighting area in particular was a better predictor than total glass area, glass percentage, and the maximum and average sizes of glass panes. However, we did not find any evidence for an effect of polarized light pollution on collisions.

Previous studies that found a relationship between collisions and ALAN at the level of entire buildings analyzed a light index that was calculated by multiplying percent lighting by the number of floors in each building to account for building size (Evans Ogden 2002, Keyes and Sexton 2014, Parkins et al. 2015). However, these studies did not or were unable to parse apart the effects of lighting and glass because the light index was strongly correlated with percent glass. We found that, at the level of individual building façades, lighting variables were not highly correlated with any glass variables, suggesting that these factors may vary independently when analyzed at the façade level instead of the building level. Indeed, a companion study assessing building-level collision correlates analyzed lighting area at the building scale for all 21 study buildings and found a stronger correlation between lighting area and glass area (Loss et al. *in prep*). These differences between façade- and building-level results suggest that analyses focusing on individual façades may reveal additional predictors of collisions that have not yet been identified at larger scales. Our finding that lighting area was a significant predictor of collisions independent of glass area also suggests that lighting could at least partially contribute

to the frequently identified importance of glass area in many past studies (Hager et al. 2013, 2017, Schneider et al. 2018). However, we expect the reflective and/or transparent properties of glass to also influence collisions independent of lighting, especially for bird collisions that occur during the daytime when ALAN effects are minimal.

We also found that in addition to lighting area, lighting proportion was an important predictor of collisions. Depending on façade size and glass area, lighting proportion represents different amounts of light emitted from each façade, and therefore, the mechanism for the effect of lighting proportion on collisions is uncertain. We hypothesize that higher proportions of lighting may represent lighted windows occurring closer together (Loss et al. *in prep*), which could create more contiguous areas of lighting that likely play a greater role in attracting birds than isolated windows emitting light. Hence, our results may indicate that buildings with both large areas of lighted windows and high proportions of lighted glass are especially dangerous for birds, attracting and killing migrating birds to a greater degree than buildings with smaller, less contiguous areas of lighted glass. Further research investigating these and other metrics of ALAN emission from building windows, including metrics that more explicitly capture lighting and glass contiguity (e.g., fragmentation indices commonly used in spatial ecology), may help clarify mechanisms for the role of lighting in bird-building collisions.

Our finding that ALAN was an important predictor of bird-building collisions at individual building façades has important implications for management efforts designed to reduce this threat to bird populations. By quantifying the relative effect of ALAN compared to other potential collision correlates, we provide a stronger, data-supported argument for building managers to turn off lights and/or shade windows at night during spring and fall migration to reduce collisions. Along with past research, these results provide evidence that significant

reductions in bird-building collisions may be achieved by implementing a combination of measures that reduce ALAN emitted from windows, break up reflections from and reduce transparency of glass, and focus mitigation steps on glass near existing vegetation (Gelb and Delacretaz 2009, Klem et al. 2009, Kummer et al. 2016a, Schneider et al. 2018). Notably, we only quantified the area of glass that appeared to be lit from the building's interior and lacked the equipment necessary to analyze other properties of artificial night lighting (e.g., color and intensity), or other sources of light, such as bright lights emanating from the top or outside surfaces of buildings or from ground-based lighting features near buildings. Because previous studies have shown that shutting off high-intensity exterior lights virtually eliminates disruptive effects on nocturnally migrating birds (Van Doren et al. 2017) and that different types of lights with varying spectral properties (e.g., wavelengths, colors) have differential effects on various wildlife taxa (Longcore et al. 2018), future collision studies should also evaluate exterior building lighting and the direction, intensity, and spectral characteristics of lighting. Such studies will be especially important as building managers and municipalities increasingly adopt highefficiency light-emitting diodes (LEDs), which typically produce light with short wavelengths that increase sky glow (i.e., reduced night-sky visibility caused by atmospheric scattering of light; Luginbul et al. 2014, Kinzey et al. 2017). Furthermore, decreasing costs of energy consumption associated with LEDs allow for increased installation of lighting in areas that were previously unlit (Kyba et al. 2017), potentially exacerbating the effects of ALAN on migrating birds.

We found no associations between bird-building collisions and any of the variables we measured to quantify the degree of polarized light reflected from buildings. This result suggests that collisions may not be driven by avian responses to PLP. However, the strong effect of

artificial night lighting in our analysis may overwhelm any effect of polarized light at any time of day. Specifically, because PLP can occur both during the day and at night-and because artificial light sources are known to diminish polarized light signals (Kyba et al. 2011)-ALAN emanating from the interior of windows at night likely reduces polarized light reflected from the exterior of these windows. Because ALAN reduces the effect of PLP at night, additional research to assess both types of light in a more controlled manner may be beneficial in parsing apart their effects and confirming our negative result of PLP being unassociated with bird collisions. One potential approach to separately evaluate PLP's effects could be to assess it only in relation to bird collisions that occur during the daytime and near twilight, when the effect of ALAN is reduced and polarized light signals may be stronger. Another potential approach could entail focusing only on collisions of bird species that are likely to respond to polarized light, such as songbird species for which evidence exists of the potential use of polarized light as a navigational cue (e.g., White-throated Sparrow [Zonotrichia albicollis; Muheim et al. 2009] and Savannah Sparrow [Passerculus sandwichensis; Able and Able 1995, Muheim et al. 2006, 2007]). However, as few studies have experimentally determined which species detect and respond to polarized light, additional research is necessary to understand avian perception of polarized light and responses to PLP in order to design rigorous studies of the relationship between polarized light and collisions for specific bird species.

Although we found no evidence that PLP affects collisions, reducing PLP should change other properties of glass in ways that reduce collisions. One study showed that replacing completely reflective solar panels with those covered by white, non-polarizing grid patterns reduced the attractiveness of panels to insects that respond to and are entrapped by PLP (Horváth et al. 2010). Hence, adding contrasting, non-polarizing patterns to glass surfaces and using

smaller panes should reduce the degree of polarized light reflected from buildings and also break up reflections of visible light that make glass dangerous for birds, especially since this study and previous studies have shown that sizes of individual panes influence collisions (Kahle et al. 2016, Nichols 2018). Additionally, designing buildings with higher proportions of lowpolarizing surfaces, such as brick, will reduce the amount and proportion of glass with which birds can collide. In addition to benefitting birds, reducing PLP should also have broader ecosystem impacts due to its known entrapment effects on aquatic insects, as described above.

Conclusion

Using data from 48 façades at 13 different buildings, we showed that two variables capturing artificial lighting at night (ALAN), specifically area of windows lighted and proportion of glass lighted, were important predictors of bird-building collisions. This is the first study to demonstrate an association between bird-building collisions and ALAN after accounting for the effect of glass area. This finding provides strong support for recommendations to turn off lights or pull down window shades at night to help reduce bird collisions during the spring and fall migration seasons. Although we found no support for a relationship between artificially polarized light (i.e., polarized light pollution; PLP) and collisions, additional research is needed to better understand avian perception and responses to polarized light and to parse apart the effects of ALAN and PLP on bird-building collisions. Nevertheless, reducing the effects of PLP, for example by adding patterns to reflective surfaces, should also reduce the reflective properties of glass known to affect collisions. Because both ALAN and PLP have negative effects on many wildlife species, reducing both types of light pollution could produce far-reaching benefits for birds, insects, and other organisms.

References

- Able, K. P., and M. A. Able. 1995. Manipulations of polarized skylight calibrate magnetic orientation in a migratory bird. Journal of Comparative Physiology a-Sensory Neural and Behavioral Physiology 177:351–356.
- Arnold, T. W., and R. M. Zink. 2011. Collision mortality has no discernible effect on population trends of North American birds. PLoS One 6:e24708.
- Avery, M. L., P. F. Springer, and J. L. Cassel. 1976. The effects of a tall tower on nocturnal bird migration: A portable ceilometer study. The Auk **93**:1–12.
- Bates, D., M. Maechler, B. Bolker, and S. Walker. 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software **67**:1–48.
- Borden, W. C., O. M. Lockhart, A. W. Jones, and M. S. Lyons. 2010. Seasonal, taxonomic, and local habitat of bird-window collisions on urban university campus in Cleveland, OH. The Ohio Journal of Science 110:44–52.
- Bracey, A. M., M. A. Etterson, G. J. Niemi, and R. F. Green. 2016. Variation in bird-window collision mortality and scavenging rates within an urban landscape. The Wilson Journal of Ornithology 128:355–367.
- Brewster, D. 1815. On the laws which regulate the polarisation of light by reflection from transparent bodies. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London **105**:125–159.
- Burnham, K. P., and D. R. Anderson. 2002. Model selection and multimodel inference : a practical information-theoretic approach. 2nd ed.. edition. New York : Springer, New York.
- Cochran, W. W., H. Mouritsen, and M. Wikelski. 2004. Migrating songbirds recalibrate their magnetic compass daily from twilight cues. Science **304**:405–408.
- Cusa, M., D. A. Jackson, and M. Mesure. 2015. Window collisions by migratory bird species: urban geographical patterns and habitat associations. Urban Ecosystems **18**:1427–1446.
- Easthausen, I. J. 2015. Songbirds and their sunglasses: A study demonstrating avian attraction to highly polarizing horizontal surfaces. Bard Digital Commons, Senior Projects Spring 2015. 138. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.bard.edu/senproj_s2015/138
- Erickson, W. P., G. D. Johnson, and D. P. J. Young. 2005. A summary and comparison of bird mortality from anthropogenic causes with an emphasis on collisions. Pages 1029–1042 *in*Bird Conservation Implementation and Integration in the Americas: Proceedings of the Third International Partners in Flight Conference, Asilomar, California.
- Estrato R&D Ltd. 2017. Manual Polarimeter. Retrieved from http://www.estrato.hu/manualpolarimeter
- Evans Ogden, L. J. 2002. Summary report on the Bird Friendly Building Program: effect of light reduction on collision of migratory birds.
- Gelb, Y., and N. Delacretaz. 2009. Windows and vegetation: Primary factors in Manhattan bird collisions. Northeastern Naturalist **16**:455–470.

65

- Hager, S. B., and B. J. Cosentino. 2014. Surveying for bird carcasses resulting from window collisions: a standardized protocol. PeerJ PrePrints **2**.
- Hager, S. B., B. J. Cosentino, M. A. Aguilar-Gómez, M. L. Anderson, M. Bakermans, T. J.
 Boves, D. Brandes, M. W. Butler, E. M. Butler, N. L. Cagle, R. Calderón-Parra, A. P.
 Capparella, A. Chen, K. Cipollini, A. A. T. Conkey, T. A. Contreras, R. I. Cooper, C. E.
 Corbin, R. L. Curry, J. J. Dosch, M. G. Drew, K. Dyson, C. Foster, C. D. Francis, E.
 Fraser, R. Furbush, N. D. G. Hagemeyer, K. N. Hopfensperger, D. Klem, E. Lago, A.
 Lahey, K. Lamp, G. Lewis, S. R. Loss, C. S. Machtans, J. Madosky, T. J. Maness, K. J.
 McKay, S. B. Menke, K. E. Muma, N. Ocampo-Peñuela, T. J. O'Connell, R. OrtegaÁlvarez, A. L. Pitt, A. L. Puga-Caballero, J. E. Quinn, C. W. Varian-Ramos, C. S.
 Riding, A. M. Roth, P. G. Saenger, R. T. Schmitz, J. Schnurr, M. Simmons, A. D. Smith,
 D. R. Sokoloski, J. Vigliotti, E. L. Walters, L. A. Walters, J. T. Weir, K. Winnett-Murray,
 J. C. Withey, and I. Zuria. 2017. Continent-wide analysis of how urbanization affects
 bird-window collision mortality in North America. Biological Conservation 212:209–215.
- Hager, S. B., B. J. Cosentino, and K. J. McKay. 2012. Scavenging affects persistence of avian carcasses resulting from window collisions in an urban landscape. Journal of Field Ornithology 83:203–211.
- Hager, S. B., B. J. Cosentino, K. J. McKay, C. Monson, W. Zuurdeeg, and B. Blevins. 2013.Window area and development drive spatial variation in bird-window collisions in an urban landscape. PLoS One 8:e53371.
- Homayoun, T. Z., and R. B. Blair. 2015. Value of park reserves to migrating and breeding landbirds in an urban important bird area. Urban Ecosystems **19**:1579–1596

- Horváth, G., M. Blaho, A. Egri, G. Kriska, I. Seres, and B. Robertson. 2010. Reducing the maladaptive attractiveness of solar panels to polarotactic insects. Conserv Biol 24:1644– 1653.
- Horváth, G., G. Kriska, P. Malik, and B. Robertson. 2009. Polarized light pollution: a new kind of ecological photopollution. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment **7**:317–325.
- Kahle, L. Q., M. E. Flannery, and J. P. Dumbacher. 2016. Bird-window collisions at a west-coast urban park museum: analyses of bird biology and window attributes from Golden Gate Park, San Francisco. PLoS One 11:e0144600.
- Kerlinger, P., J. L. Gehring, W. P. Erickson, R. Curry, A. Jain, and J. Guarnaccia. 2010. Night Migrant Fatalities and Obstruction Lighting at Wind Turbines in North America. The Wilson Journal of Ornithology 122:744–754.
- Keyes, T., and L. Sexton. 2014. Characteristics of bird strikes at Atlanta's commercial buildings during late summer and fall migration, 2005. The Oriole **79**.
- Kinzey, B., T.E. Perrin, N. J. Miller, M. Kocifaj, M. Aubé, and H. S. Lamphar. 2017. An investigation of LED street lighting's impact on sky glow. Richland, Washington: U.S. Department of Energy (Contract DE-AC05-76RL01830).
- Klem, D. 1989. Bird-window collisions. The Wilson Bulletin 101:606–620.
- Klem, D., C. J. Farmer, N. Delacretaz, Y. Gelb, and P. G. Saenger. 2009. Architectural and landscape risk factors associated with bird–glass collisions in an urban environment. The Wilson Journal of Ornithology 121:126–134.
- Kriska, G., P. Malik, I. Szivak, and G. Horváth. 2008. Glass buildings on river banks as
 "polarized light traps" for mass-swarming polarotactic caddis flies. Naturwissenschaften
 95:461–467.

- Kummer, J. A., E. M. Bayne, and C. S. Machtans. 2016a. Use of citizen science to identify factors affecting bird–window collision risk at houses. The Condor **118**:624–639.
- Kummer, J. A., C. J. Nordell, T. M. Berry, C. V. Collins, C. R. L. Tse, and E. M. Bayne. 2016b. Use of bird carcass removals by urban scavengers to adjust bird-window collision estimates. Avian Conservation and Ecology 11.
- Kyba, C. C. M., T. Ruhtz, J. Fischer, and F. Hölker. 2011. Lunar skylight polarization signal polluted by urban lighting. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres **116**.
- Kyba, C. C. M., T. Kuester, A. Sanchez de Miguel, K. Baugh, A. Jechow, F. Holker, J. Bennie,C. D. Elvidge, K. J. Gaston, and L. Guanter. 2017. Artificially lit surface of Earth at night increasing in radiance and extent. Sci Adv 3:e1701528.
- La Sorte, F. A., D. Fink, J. J. Buler, A. Farnsworth, and S. A. Cabrera-Cruz. 2017. Seasonal associations with urban light pollution for nocturnally migrating bird populations. Glob Chang Biol **23**:4609–4619.
- Longcore, T., and C. Rich. 2004. Ecological Light Pollution. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment **2**:191.
- Longcore, T., A. Rodriguez, B. Witherington, J. F. Penniman, L. Herf, and M. Herf. 2018. Rapid assessment of lamp spectrum to quantify ecological effects of light at night. J Exp Zool A Ecol Integr Physiol **329**:511-521.
- Loss, S. R., T. Will, S. S. Loss, and P. P. Marra. 2014. Bird–building collisions in the United States: estimates of annual mortality and species vulnerability. The Condor **116**:8–23.
- Loss, S. R., S. Lao, A. W. Anderson, R. B. Blair, J. W. Eckles, R. J. Turner. 2019. Factors influencing bird collisions at a stadium and other large buildings in a major North American city. In prep.

- Luginbuhl, C. B., P. A. Boley, and D. R. Davis. 2014. The impact of light source spectral power distribution on sky glow. Journal of Quantitative Spectroscopy and Radiative Transfer 139:21-26.
- Maier, E. J., and J. K. Bowmaker. 1993. Colour vision in the passeriform bird, Leiothrix lutea: correlation of visual pigment absorbance and oil droplet transmission with spectral sensitivity. Journal of Comparative Physiology A 172:295–301.
- Malik, P., R. Hegedüs, G. Kriska, S. Åkesson, B. Robertson, and G. Horváth. 2009. Asphalt Surfaces as Ecological Traps for Water-Seeking Polarotactic Insects: How can the Polarized Light Pollution of Asphalt Surfaces be Reduced? Pages 81–119 *in* J. A.
 Duncan, editor. Asphaltenes: Characterization, Properties and Applications. Nova Science Publishers, Inc.
- Malik, P., R. Hegedüs, G. Kriska, and G. Horváth. 2008. Imaging polarimetry of glass buildings: why do vertical glass surfaces attract polarotactic insects? Applied Optics **47**:4361–4374.
- Martin, G. R. 2011. Understanding bird collisions with man-made objects: a sensory ecology approach. Ibis **153**:239–254.
- McLaren, J. D., J. J. Buler, T. Schreckengost, J. A. Smolinsky, M. Boone, E. Emiel van Loon, D.K. Dawson, and E. L. Walters. 2018. Artificial light at night confounds broad-scale habitat use by migrating birds. Ecol Lett.
- Muheim, R., S. Åkesson, and J. B. Phillips. 2007. Magnetic compass of migratory Savannah sparrows is calibrated by skylight polarization at sunrise and sunset. Journal of Ornithology 148:485–494.
- Muheim, R., J. B. Phillips, and S. Akesson. 2006. Polarized light cues underlie compass calibration in migratory songbirds. Science **313**:837–839.

- Muheim, R., J. B. Phillips, and M. E. Deutschlander. 2009. White-throated sparrows calibrate their magnetic compass by polarized light cues during both autumn and spring migration. Journal of Experimental Biology 212:3466–3472.
- Nichols, K. 2018. Birds & buildings: Bird-window collisions in the urban landscape. Ph.D dissertation, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN. Retrieved from the University of Minnesota Digital Conservancy, http://hdl.handle.net/11299/200288.
- Nichols, K. S., T. Homayoun, J. Eckles, and R. B. Blair. 2018. Bird-building collision risk: An assessment of the collision risk of birds with buildings by phylogeny and behavior using two citizen-science datasets. PLoS One **13**:e0201558.
- Parkins, K. L., S. B. Elbin, and E. Barnes. 2015. Light, glass, and bird-building collisions in an urban park. Northeastern Naturalist 22:84–94.
- R Core Team. 2018. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>
- Rebke, M., V. Dierschke, C. N. Weiner, R. Aumüller, K. Hill, and R. Hill. 2019. Attraction of nocturnally migrating birds to artificial light: The influence of colour, intensity and blinking mode under different cloud cover conditions. Biological Conservation 233:220-227.
- Riding, C. S., and S. R. Loss. 2018. Factors influencing experimental estimation of scavenger removal and observer detection in bird-window collision surveys. Ecol Appl 28:2119– 2129.
- Robertson, B., G. Kriska, V. Horváth, and G. Horváth. 2010. Glass buildings as bird feeders: Urban birds exploit insects trapped by polarized light pollution. Acta Zoologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae **56**:283–292.

- Schneider, C. A., W. S. Rasband, and K. W. Eliceiri. 2012. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis, Nature Methods 9:671–675.
- Schneider, R. M., C. M. Barton, K. W. Zirkle, C. F. Greene, and K. B. Newman. 2018. Yearround monitoring reveals prevalence of fatal bird-window collisions at the Virginia Tech Corporate Research Center. PeerJ 6:e4562.
- Soykan, C. U., J. Sauer, J. G. Schuetz, G. S. LeBaron, K. Dale, G. M. Langham, and W. A. Boyle. 2016. Population trends for North American winter birds based on hierarchical models. Ecosphere 7.
- Umov, N. 1905. Chromatische depolarisation durch lichtzerstreuung. Physikalische Zeitschrift **6**:674–676.
- Van Doren, B. M., K. G. Horton, A. M. Dokter, H. Klinck, S. B. Elbin, and A. Farnsworth. 2017.
 High-intensity urban light installation dramatically alters nocturnal bird migration.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.

VITA

Sirena Lao

Candidate for the Degree of

Master of Science

Thesis: INVESTIGATING THE EFFECTS OF WEATHER, ARTIFICIAL LIGHTING, AND POLARIZED LIGHT ON BIRD-BUILDING COLLISIONS IN THE DOWNTOWN AREA OF A MAJOR U.S. CITY

Major Field: Natural Resource Ecology & Management

Biographical:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Natural Resource Ecology & Management at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in May, 2019.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Science in Environmental Science at University of California, Los Angeles, California in 2012.

Experience:

Program Assistant, Travis Audubon Society, Austin, TX (2015-2017) Laboratory Manager, UCLA Center for Tropical Research, Los Angeles, CA, (2012-2015)

Field Assistant, UCLA Institute of the Environment and Sustainability, WA (2012)

Professional Memberships:

American Ornithological Society The Wildlife Society